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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning.

          3  This is a hearing of the Committee on Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice Services. I am Committee Chair

          5  Yvette Clarke, and today the Committee will conduct

          6  a hearing on Resolution 91-A of 2002, which is

          7  sponsored by Council Members Charles Barron, myself,

          8  as well as Council Members Perkins, Comrie, Davis,

          9  Dilan, Fidler, Lopez, Reyna, Rivera, Sanders,

         10  Serrano and Weprin, and also Council Member Vann.

         11                 Resolution 91-A calls for the retrial

         12  of Charles Schwarz of the 1997 assault on Abner

         13  Louima. It calls upon Brooklyn District Attorney

         14  Charles Hynes to investigate criminal charges

         15  against former police officers Thomas Bruder, Thomas

         16  Wiese and Charles Schwarz.

         17                 It declares that these individuals

         18  should never again be allowed to serve as police

         19  officers and calls for the appointment of a special

         20  prosecutor to investigate police brutality and other

         21  incidents of police misconduct.

         22                 In 1997, Abner Louima was brutally

         23  sodomized with a wooden stick in the bathroom of the

         24  70th Precinct stationhouse. In the middle of the

         25  trial in 1999, Justin Volpe pleaded guilty to
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          2  violating Mr. Louima's civil rights.

          3                 At the conclusion of that same trial,

          4  Charles Schwarz was found guilty of violating Mr.

          5  Louima's civil rights for holding Louima down, as

          6  Justin Volpe sodomized him.

          7                 In 2000, Charles Schwarz, Thomas

          8  Bruder and Thomas Wiese were convicted at the trial

          9  of conspiracy to obstruct justice by attempting to

         10  cover up Mr. Schwarz' role in the attack.

         11                 In addition to the outrage that I

         12  share with all New Yorkers, indeed all principle

         13  people, when I consider the attack on Abner Louima I

         14  have a deeper personal reason why this incident

         15  affects me so strongly.

         16                 The 70th Precinct, the site of this

         17  act of brutality, serves the district that I

         18  represent.

         19                 These convictions afforded some

         20  consolation to the City and its minority communities

         21  that such acts of savagery would not go unpunished.

         22                 However, in February, the Court found

         23  that Charles Schwarz' attorney, Steven Worth, was

         24  conflicted by his representation of the Patrolmen's

         25  Benevolent Association, and that the conspiracy
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          2  convictions of Bruder, Wiese and Schwarz were based

          3  on insufficient evidence.

          4                 In light of these reversals,

          5  Resolution 91-A calls for certain steps to be taken

          6  to ensure that justice is realized in the attack on

          7  Abner Louima.

          8                 Resolution 91-A calls for the retrial

          9  of Charles Schwarz in federal court on the charge

         10  that he violated Abner Louima's civil rights when he

         11  held Mr. Louima down as Justin Volpe brutalized him

         12  with the wooden stick.

         13                 Due to double jeopardy concerns,

         14  Bruder, Wiese and Schwarz cannot be retried on the

         15  conspiracy charge, therefore, Resolution 91-A calls

         16  upon DA Hynes to investigate the possibility of

         17  charging the three officers under New York State

         18  Law, for their roles in the attempted cover-up.

         19                 Resolution 91-A declared that Bruder,

         20  Wiese, Schwarz are a disgrace to the New York City

         21  Police Department and should never again be allowed

         22  to serve as police officers.

         23                 Based on several questionable

         24  incidents of misconduct, including the attack on

         25  Abner Louima, Resolution 91-A calls upon Governor
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          2  George Pataki to appoint a special prosecutor to

          3  investigate reported incidents of police brutality

          4  and other incidents of police misconduct.

          5                 What is justice in this case?

          6                 Perhaps justice was best expressed by

          7  Abner Louima himself in 1999 when he said I hope

          8  what comes of my case is changed. What happened to

          9  me should not happen to any human being, to my

         10  children or anyone else's children.

         11                 I am joined today by Council Member

         12  Tony Avella. I am joined today by Council Member

         13  Charles Barron, the author of this resolution. I am

         14  also joined by Council Member Lanza, and our

         15  Majority -- our, excuse me -- our Minority, let us

         16  be clear, our Minority Leader.

         17                 At this time, would you like to make

         18  a statement, Council Member Barron.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         20  much, Council Member Yvette Clarke. I want to

         21  applaud you for your courage, your tenacity, and

         22  audacity to bring forth this bill and have this

         23  hearing.

         24                 Many said that this bill, this

         25  hearing, is going to divide us. We say that this
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          2  unites us for justice. Justice is long overdue, the

          3  intent of the bill is focused on justice for Abner

          4  Louima. As we sit today we're still not sure whether

          5  the federal government is going to retry Schwarz on

          6  the civil rights violations, we're not sure of that.

          7  Certainly the City Council should step forward and

          8  say that as a legislative body, we are going to see

          9  to it that all of those officers who are paid to

         10  protect us, indeed have to act in a responsible

         11  manner in protecting the citizens, every citizen, of

         12  New York City, with no exceptions.

         13                 And we wanted to have the City

         14  Council make a loud, strong, bold statement saying

         15  that we've had the Amadou Diallo case, which really

         16  caused this City, this State, this country, to be in

         17  an uproar and have no confidence in the justice

         18  system. We've had people who were having nothing to

         19  do with drugs whatsoever be shot and killed and

         20  nobody brought to justice. We have a case now where

         21  a young man is shot in the back right now, fleeing -

         22  no justice. We have to say as a City Council, that

         23  we are going to support the citizens of this City,

         24  every citizen, in getting justice.

         25                 We really shouldn't even have to have
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          2  a hearing. We shouldn't even have to have marches

          3  and demonstrations. This is what the Police

          4  Department is paid to do and protect us. So, we're

          5  hoping to hear, -- so, we want to applaud the work

          6  of the Reverend Al Sharpton and Reverend Herbert

          7  Daughtry and Lieutenant Eric Adams for the work that

          8  they've done over the years in fighting for justice

          9  in case after case.

         10                 And, Council Member Clarke, I'll end

         11  it with this: In 1984, or '82, Congressman John

         12  Connors came into New York City, Congressman from

         13  Detroit, and had two congressional hearings, one in

         14  Brooklyn and one in Manhattan, and he concluded,

         15  after listening to the Police Commissioner, after

         16  listening to law enforcement and community

         17  activists, that police brutality was pervasive,

         18  systemic, and racial in nature in New York City, and

         19  we have yet to address that, its root causes and its

         20  impact is having on our community.

         21                 I thank you very much, Council Member

         22  Clarke.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Barron.

         25                 Are there any other statements for my
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          2  colleagues at this time?

          3                 Okay, we will then move into our

          4  testimonies.

          5                 Let me call at this time the Reverend

          6  Al Sharpton.

          7                 Reverend Al Sharpton, I'd like to

          8  thank you for coming to address this issue before

          9  the New York City Council today. We have been

         10  concerned about the impact of police brutality,

         11  specifically in the context of the criminal justice

         12  system, and we are here today to hear testimony

         13  within those parameters, so that, one, we bring to

         14  New York City the dimensions and the concerns of

         15  many of our communities about the application of

         16  justice, not only in the City of New York, in the

         17  State of New York and indeed nationally. So, we

         18  thank you for all of your efforts throughout the

         19  years in highlighting these issues, and we'd ask

         20  that you give your testimony today, and, thank you,

         21  once again.

         22                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Thank you to

         23  Councilwoman Clarke. I join in saluting you for

         24  having the courage and insight to call this hearing.

         25  Councilman Barron and others who have raised this
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          2  resolution that I come to testify in support of,

          3  this is the first time that I've testified at a City

          4  Council hearing in my life. I've had to testify in

          5  court with Councilman Barron when we were

          6  defendants, but I've never had to testify before the

          7  City Council. And I, again, give all due respect to

          8  all the members of the Council on the Committee, to

          9  the Minority Leader. I'm very sensitive to

         10  minorities, so I wanted to acknowledge you.

         11                 I come to testify on behalf of the

         12  resolution. I want to remind the members of the

         13  Committee that just last week I, and others,

         14  participated nationally in an appraisal of the tenth

         15  anniversary of the violence in Los Angeles around

         16  the acquittal of the police officers in Rodney King.

         17  And I wanted to start there because I wanted to say

         18  that the reason I feel that New York City did not

         19  face a lot of the same type of violence that Los

         20  Angeles did, is because there were people that tried

         21  to, in a responsible, and, yet, direct way, vent a

         22  lot of the same anger and emotions and raise those

         23  issues in this City that gave people a way other

         24  than burning to raise those issues. Some of them are

         25  here. Reverend Herbert Daughtry has been doing it
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          2  for years; Eric Adams, in his way in the Police

          3  Department; Councilman Barron. I don't think that

          4  this City has ever appreciated that the same anger

          5  and rage that we saw in Los Angeles ten years ago is

          6  in this City, yet there are many that sacrifice

          7  themselves to find a way to do it that didn't burn

          8  the City.

          9                 So, what this resolution speaks to me

         10  is a way of trying to deal with a problem in the

         11  City without destroying the City. But if the problem

         12  is not dealt with, it makes those of us that appeal

         13  to the judiciary and the Legislature ineffective,

         14  because you give people no way to feel they can be

         15  heard.

         16                 As we speak today, as you have this

         17  hearing, there's a funeral going on in Brooklyn with

         18  a young man shot in the back by DEA officers. Unsaid

         19  in many of the stories was policemen had to mace

         20  people in the streets last week because they became

         21  outraged again at the shooting of another unarmed

         22  man. The excuse given was that he was engaged in

         23  drug trafficking.  There is no evidence of that. He

         24  never has been arrested. We don't know if he was. If

         25  he was, he should have been apprehended, he should
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          2  have been tried and convicted. But even in the wild,

          3  wild west, you don't shoot people in the back. This

          4  is a recurring problem which I think it is timely

          5  that this Committee look into it.

          6                 Why do I come in support of this

          7  resolution? First of all, let me say Councilman

          8  Barron had invited Abner Louima who could not be

          9  here today, but I've spoken with him, his attorneys,

         10  and I can safety say that they're in support of this

         11  for several reasons.

         12                 When the second circuit came back

         13  with its decision to overturn the convictions of two

         14  officers and to call for retrial of Mr. Schwarz, we

         15  not only met with the eastern district, we met with

         16  District Attorney Charles Hynes, who is named in

         17  this particular resolution. It is our feeling that

         18  it is a matter of equal protection under the law

         19  that these officers and any other officers in that

         20  precinct be prosecuted. It is unthinkable that one

         21  policeman, operating by himself, could have taken

         22  Abner Louima, stripped his pants down to his ankles,

         23  walked him into the bathroom, held him down,

         24  sodomized him and held the door all at the same

         25  time.
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          2                 So, clearly, he had to operate with

          3  help, he had to operate with others having knowledge

          4  that did not try at any point to stop him, arrest

          5  him, apprehend him, or immediately tell on him after

          6  these events happened.

          7                 For New York City to allow this to

          8  occur, would give us a black eye all over the world.

          9                 Many people were outraged. I remember

         10  when I first visited Abner Louima in Coney Island

         11  Hospital, he was still handcuffed to the bed, he was

         12  under arrest for assaulting the policeman that

         13  sodomized him. I was the first person outside of his

         14  immediate family to see him. I met with him even

         15  before Mayor Giuliani did. He was still under

         16  arrest, tubes tied to his body, being charged with

         17  an assault when he obviously had been sodomized and

         18  assaulted by these policemen.

         19                 For almost two years -- excuse me.

         20  For almost two years he was faced with a media blitz

         21  by his assaulters, saying he in fact was not

         22  assaulted, that he had engaged in some kind of

         23  sexual act that led to his injuries. And it was his

         24  family that had to go through a barrage of media

         25  attacks. Many had to stand by him in the middle of
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          2  these attacks. We were accused of perpetrating a

          3  hoax, we were accused of being anti-police, there

          4  were all kinds of threats and innuendoes given

          5  against those that defended him, including his

          6  attorneys. Mr. Cochran, including Reverend Daughtry

          7  and others of us, and in the middle of all this

          8  barrage, finally Justin Volpe broke down in court

          9  and admitted he had done what he said he did not do.

         10                 I remember the day before his

         11  attorney and him were saying, Attorney Kornberg,

         12  that Abner did this to himself in some sex act, the

         13  very next day they pleaded guilty. It was then that

         14  led to a series of convictions.

         15                 To act as though just getting Volpe

         16  alone is justice is absurd. I think that the City

         17  Council has the responsibility to the citizens of

         18  this City to say that the prosecutors must continue

         19  prosecution until all the guilty have been

         20  prosecuted and until justice is done. The other

         21  reason this becomes important is with the new

         22  appointment of a US Attorney in Brooklyn, in the

         23  Eastern District, we do not know the commitment of

         24  that office toward the prosecution of the retrial of

         25  Charles Schwarz. The leadership of Eastern District

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  has now changed. There's even been a nomination for

          3  the judge of this case to get a promotion. We don't

          4  know if that judge, by the way, made several rulings

          5  that Mr. Schwarz's counsel found not to their

          6  interest. We don't know if that judge will be taken

          7  off the case and a new judge come in. So, there is

          8  no guarantee that Schwarz even will be tried based

          9  on the Court of Appeals even saying he must be

         10  retried.

         11                 And let us remember, with all of the

         12  hype that Mr. Schwarz is the wrong guy, Mr. Schwarz

         13  was convicted by two juries and indicted by three

         14  grand juries. It is not just Mr. Louima, it is not

         15  just Mr. Vingrad, it is not just Al Sharpton, true

         16  juries convicted him, three grand juries indicted

         17  him, including the last grand jury that indicted

         18  him. So, what the PBA and supporters of Mr. Schwarz

         19  are saying to this Council and to the public is that

         20  all of these people are under some charismatic spell

         21  by us - juries, grand juries, everybody's got it

         22  wrong, they alone are the only ones that understand

         23  that Mr. Schwarz is innocent, yet they can't tell us

         24  then who helped to do this to Abner Louima.

         25                 I think it is the responsibility of
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          2  this Council to stand up for the citizens of this

          3  City. I do not think it's your responsibility to

          4  convict people, I think it's your responsibility to

          5  tell the justice system in this City you must go

          6  after those that are guilty, whoever it is, and you

          7  must go with the full weight of the law.

          8                 We're not asking for you to scapegoat

          9  people, but we are asking for you not to help

         10  undergird the blue wall of silence, and to give

         11  people a pass based on their occupation.

         12                 I think, lastly, that I, too,

         13  Councilwoman Clarke, come to this with some personal

         14  investment. I live in the 70th Precinct, and my wife

         15  and I raised two daughters in that precinct. I could

         16  have very easily called Justin Volpe to my house to

         17  protect my family. I live about 12 blocks from that

         18  precinct today. The thought that I could have called

         19  that precinct and someone as sick and someone as

         20  criminal as Volpe and his cohorts could have

         21  responded to that call is something frightening to

         22  everyone that lives in that precinct area.

         23                 This Council has a responsibility to

         24  the people of this City to protect them against

         25  those type of police officers. I do not believe our
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          2  police officers are criminal. I do not believe all

          3  of them are bad. I believe the ones that give that

          4  perception are those that get away with doing bad

          5  deeds. I think the way to protect the name of police

          6  in the City is to let bad cops suffer what bad

          7  community people suffer, and that is a day in court

          8  and the rendering of justice.

          9                 I do not think we should apologize

         10  for bad members of our community. I think we ought

         11  to quit covering up for bad cops. And I think that

         12  if people really want to support the Police

         13  Department, they would take bad cops off the force

         14  and they would do so having a special prosecutor to

         15  look at that area.

         16                 The reason that I support the part of

         17  the resolution that calls for a special prosecutor,

         18  we have special departments for organized crime, we

         19  have special departments for white collar crime,

         20  police brutality, police misconduct is a special

         21  crime that should be studied by those that are

         22  skilled in that area, that knows how to investigate

         23  in that area, that knows how to penetrate the blue

         24  wall of silence. It is a special form of

         25  investigation and prosecution, therefore, it needs a
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          2  special department to concentrate in it, like we

          3  have in drugs, like we have in white collar, like we

          4  have in organized crime. It would assure the people

          5  of this City that we take this issue seriously.

          6                 The people of this City relatively

          7  remain peaceful and non-violent, despite their

          8  protest on any number of internationally known

          9  cases. I think the least the City Council could do

         10  is reward them by coming forth by vindicating their

         11  confidence in the process by saying we will demand

         12  justice. LA didn't happen here, this City Council

         13  should act like it.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         16  Reverend Sharpton.

         17                 Council Member Barron, do you have

         18  any questions?

         19                 Oh, let me acknowledge that we have

         20  been joined by Council Member McMahon and Council

         21  Member Tracy Boyland.

         22                 Council Member Barron.

         23                 Is there anyone? Council Member Oddo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         25  Chair.
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          2                 Good morning, Reverend.

          3                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Good morning.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Reverend, you

          5  were on record as to voicing your chagrin, indeed

          6  your anger, that the Diallo case has moved out of

          7  Bronx County and the rationale preferred for that

          8  decision was that those officers couldn't get a fair

          9  and impartial hearing because of all of the folderol

         10  that was surrounding that tragedy.

         11                 Are you concerned at all that this

         12  very hearing could take us down a path that

         13  compromises the constitutional rights of Chuck

         14  Schwarz and the other two officers, and perhaps

         15  jeopardizes their ability to receive a fair and

         16  impartial trial?

         17                 You have always been an advocate of

         18  civil rights, do you think that this takes us down a

         19  slippery slope, and the net result of that being

         20  that there's an abridgement of the constitutional

         21  rights of these three officers?

         22                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Absolutely not. I

         23  think, first of all, there has been probably more

         24  publicity supportive of Schwarz than against

         25  Schwarz, and they would have a very difficult task
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          2  trying to act like any publicity hurt his chances,

          3  when we could probably give you three to one

          4  articles that were supportive of his chances, which

          5  is probably why they never raised it, and it's

          6  probably why they're not here today testifying

          7  against the resolution, if they were, in any way

          8  felt that, they would impact this hearing room and

          9  raise that. The fact that they're not here means

         10  that they feel they're winning the PR battle.

         11                 And secondly, I think, sir, that the

         12  slippery slope is that if we continue to have

         13  legislative bodies that did not assure the citizens

         14  that they want to see the process protect citizens

         15  from bad police, and I think that that is a concern

         16  legislators should have. But I don't think that any

         17  way, shape or form a resolution by this Council

         18  saying that they want to see these police go before

         19  a court judged by citizens, you're not calling for

         20  convictions, you're calling for people to be tried

         21  in the court of law, I think particularly for

         22  officers of the law, to duck that in the name of --

         23  would public opinion be against me particularly when

         24  Schwarz has had the best PR campaign I've seen,

         25  other than George Bush, I think that we clearly

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            21

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  would have a hard time determining that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, Reverend,

          4  I would respectfully differ, and I would say that --

          5                 REVEREND SHARPTON: As long as you're

          6  being respectful, I'll accept the differ.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I will do

          8  nothing less. I would respectfully differ and say

          9  that the folks from PBA and other supporters of

         10  Chuck Schwarz probably made the decision not to be

         11  here today because they feared the fact that if they

         12  did turn out, it adds credibility to what they see

         13  as a gratuitous resolution.

         14                 And just to explore this idea of

         15  poisoning the well, if you will, Nat Henhoff, in the

         16  Village Voice, of all papers, had a story in it a

         17  couple of weeks ago that raises the concern that the

         18  perjury charges against Chuck Schwarz are part of a

         19  premeditated plan by the prosecutor to in fact

         20  poison the well. And you can't deny, Reverend, that

         21  when there is a New York Post headline based on

         22  perjury indictment that says "Liar Liar," that

         23  doesn't bode well for the chances of us having a

         24  fair hearing for these officers.

         25                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, first of
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          2  all, I don't think that anyone could argue that New

          3  York Post and I agree on anything, including a date

          4  on the New York Post, so for the New York Post

          5  headline to be used, even you had to laugh.

          6                 And Nat Henhoff of the Village Voice,

          7  with all due respect, and I don't always agree. But,

          8  again, I raise an all due respect to you, true

          9  juries convicted Schwarz. This is what the

         10  supporters of Schwarz refused to bring to the

         11  public. He was convicted twice by two juries of his

         12  peers in the eastern district and indicated three

         13  times.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it also true,

         15  Reverend, that three of four of those jurors signed

         16  affidavits that said that if Justin Volpe had indeed

         17  testified and they heard his testimony, they would

         18  not have convicted.

         19                 REVEREND SHARPTON: No, they said they

         20  did not know if they would have convicted. Justin

         21  Volpe did testify at one of those trials and he

         22  still was convicted.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think they

         24  said they wouldn't have convictions --

         25                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Justin Volpe did
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          2  testify and he was convicted.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But the point

          4  being, Reverend --

          5                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Was he not? Didn't

          6  Mr. Volpe testify?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The point being,

          8  Reverend, is that for every fact that you can make

          9  about this case, I think I can make a fact that

         10  speaks to the innocence of Chuck Schwarz.

         11                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Which is why we

         12  need to go to court and let a jury for the third

         13  time make a decision.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And we want a

         15  fair and impartial hearing so that we can --

         16                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Are you suggesting

         17  that they were not fair trials that convicted them?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think the

         19  point I'm trying to make is that it troubles me that

         20  in the opening testimony of a City Council hearing

         21  we make a conclusory statement that Chuck Schwarz

         22  held down Abner Louima. Well, that's the issue at

         23  hand, and I think it's wrong for the legislative

         24  branch of government to be calling on the judicial

         25  branch of government to do X, Y and Z.
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          2                 You have demonstrated a wonderful

          3  institutional memory and a wonderful knowledge of

          4  history, but let's see if we can test that and go

          5  back to the founding fathers.

          6                 The founding fathers took painstaking

          7  efforts to separate powers, and if I could just

          8  throw one quote at you, from James Madison, "The

          9  Legislative Department is everywhere extending its

         10  fear of activity and drawing all power into this

         11  impetuous vortex."

         12                 I think that's where we're at today.

         13  The City Council is at an impetuous vortex. It is

         14  not the purview of this Council to be having a

         15  hearing to try or retry these officers, and to be

         16  part of a process that I believe ultimately ends up

         17  in abridging the constitutional rights and hampering

         18  all of our wishes, and that's to make sure that

         19  justice is done so those who are guilty in fact are

         20  punished, but those who are innocent are acquitted.

         21  I think that this process hampers that, and I was

         22  hesitant to even engage in this dialogue because I

         23  don't want to do anything that I do to make this

         24  even more of an issue. But I think it's a troubling

         25  day when this body plays a role that clearly the
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          2  founding fathers had no intention for us to play,

          3  and at the same time potentially abridge the

          4  constitutional rights of a New Yorker.

          5                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, I think

          6  there is no way, shape, form, rhyme or reason, to

          7  say for a legislative body, to call upon a process

          8  to be respected in the judiciary in any way

          9  infringes upon the constitutional rights. I think

         10  what it does is protect the citizens of the City

         11  that the constitution will work for everyone, and I

         12  think that was a question here.

         13                 You raise a question about a fair

         14  trial, I challenge you that if you have any evidence

         15  that the two trials that convicted Charles Schwarz

         16  were in fact unfair, that you ought to state that.

         17  In fact, you have a responsibility to.

         18                 I would suggest, sir, that you have

         19  no such evidence because there is no such evidence.

         20  He was given fair trials, he was convicted, he

         21  should face another fair trial and I would assume

         22  that if the same is done, the results will be the

         23  same.

         24                 I think that clearly this body cannot

         25  sit with its head in the sand and act like this City
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          2  is not facing a problem of a blue wall of silence,

          3  it's not facing a problem where people feel that

          4  police are not brought to justice, and I think that

          5  rather than deal with this issue after a crisis, it

          6  shows great vision to deal with it before a crisis.

          7  When you stick your head in the sand, you only

          8  expose your behind to the world.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I would just

         10  say, Reverend, let's make sure the record is

         11  sanitized and we get on the record that the fact

         12  that those convictions were overturned, and let's --

         13                 REVEREND SHARPTON: No, no, no, no. A

         14  conviction was overturned.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And let's just

         16  speak to the real issue at hand, is that in the

         17  month of May, 17 weeks into this new City Council,

         18  in the embryonic stage that it's in, I question

         19  whether or not this Committee should be spending our

         20  precious time on a resolution. There are intros,

         21  there are actual local laws that we could be

         22  passing, and I just question what really is the end

         23  game here?

         24                 This is a resolution that in all

         25  likelihood won't even receive a vote. So, what is
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          2  the end game?

          3                 REVEREND SHARPTON: The end game I

          4  hope --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, if I just

          6  can finish?

          7                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I'm sorry.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The end game,

          9  when you look at it, I think is to poison the well

         10  and I find it hard to be a member of this

         11  institution and engage in that activity.

         12                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, I think that

         13  I hope the end game will be that people around this

         14  City will feel that we did not elect legislators

         15  that would go downtown and ignore the fact that

         16  there are City employees sworn to uphold the law

         17  that will never hear from this legislative body that

         18  they should be brought under the auspices of those

         19  that they are supposed to be sworn to protect.

         20                 Does it disturb you that there's a

         21  blue wall of silence in this City?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Reverend, you

         23  and I will go get a cup of coffee and off the record

         24  we'll have a conversation about what your fears of a

         25  blue wall of silence are and my thoughts on it, but
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          2  I'm not going to engage in that dialogue at this

          3  time.

          4                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: It just goes to

          6  underscore --

          7                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I think that's the

          8  issue, though, sir, and I think -- and I'll take you

          9  up on the cup of coffee, I take sweet and low and

         10  one cream.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think you

         12  might lay off the cream, Reverend Sharpton.

         13                 REVEREND SHARPTON: No, I need a

         14  little cream because I'm going to need energy to go

         15  over a lot of crap that I will have to argue with.

         16  But I think that we definitely feel that the blue

         17  wall of silence is a central issue in this City, and

         18  I think that even though we may disagree on how to

         19  get there, I think that this is a proper place to

         20  debate it.

         21                 If the citizens of this City can't

         22  come to these chambers and discuss things that

         23  affect it, then where are we to go?

         24                 If we can't come to you guys, where

         25  are we to go?
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          2                 And I think that that is why you have

          3  elected officials, so you come to those officials

          4  and say this is a widespread problem, this affects

          5  the entire City.

          6                 We're not in here talking about just

          7  individuals, we're talking about a serious problem

          8  that has permeated this City, which is why the tiers

          9  here are special prosecutor and other things, and I

         10  think that this is very serious, and I think that

         11  this Council is not wasting its time. I think that

         12  to not deal with it would be an insult to the

         13  citizens of this City.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Let's continue

         15  this on New York 1 then, Reverend.

         16                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I'm doing national

         17  stuff lately, but I'll go local for you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Your ambition

         19  seems to be higher than --

         20                 REVEREND SHARPTON: You have great

         21  ambition, too.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Oddo.

         25                 Okay, I have Council Member McMahon
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          2  next, and that will be followed by Council Member

          3  Lanza.

          4                 We've been joined by Council Member

          5  Hiram Monserrate.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Good morning,

          7  Reverend Sharpton.

          8                 My name is Michael McMahon, I'm a

          9  Councilman from Staten Island.

         10                 I'm a little concerned because even

         11  in your discussion with Council Member Oddo, you

         12  raise issues that this body should address, because

         13  you're correct, that's why we are elected to address

         14  the issues, all issues that concern all New Yorkers

         15  no matter what the issue is and no matter who are

         16  concerned and who is doing the things that concerns

         17  them. And I agree with that wholeheartedly, and you

         18  say that this resolution simply calls for justice.

         19  Yet, there are conclusions made in the resolution

         20  itself that really undertake sort of a mission of

         21  fact finding. It says, for instance, these three

         22  officers were a disgrace, and basically says that

         23  they are guilty before the legal process is

         24  completed.

         25                 So, you see, if we have a hearing on
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          2  the issues that you raise, I'm wholeheartedly in

          3  support of that. This hearing is on a particular

          4  resolution that the Council is going to be asked to

          5  vote on with very specific language in it, and the

          6  language in this resolution goes much further than

          7  what you're advocating as you sit here this morning.

          8  And I think that we have to be careful, as Council

          9  Member Oddo said, that we do not usurp the powers of

         10  the judicial branch of government, just as we do not

         11  want the judicial branch of government to usurp the

         12  powers of the Legislature. And I think if the courts

         13  came to the Legislature and said this is the law

         14  that you should be passing, it would be tantamount

         15  to us now saying to the judicial process this is the

         16  outcome that we believe is justified in this case.

         17  Whatever our motions are and whatever the issue is

         18  in, whatever the case is, because, you know, the

         19  history of this country, and the whole civil rights

         20  movement finally made progress after hundreds of

         21  years of not making progress because the judiciary

         22  was independent of the Legislature, and that I don't

         23  think anyone can gainsay here this morning, and that

         24  independence now, to usurp that independence,

         25  because you may believe that an outcome is warranted
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          2  in a certain case, how will that set a precedent

          3  five years from now when the people who run this

          4  Committee or this Council think that a different

          5  outcome is warranted?

          6                 We have to be careful because we are

          7  a country of laws, and if those laws are not being

          8  followed, then we have to follow the process that

          9  allows us to see that justice is done. But if we

         10  allow a motion, if we allow publicity, if we allow

         11  the passions of the day to rule the decision of the

         12  day, then we will become victims of our own

         13  passions. And, so, I ask you, are you testifying

         14  this morning about bigger issues that you want this

         15  Council to address, or are we talking to

         16  specifically about a resolution that has very

         17  specific findings in it and ask for a very specific

         18  result?

         19                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I'm doing both.

         20                 I think that we are clearly saying

         21  that the bigger issue should be addressed, but we

         22  also are saying that the specific cases and specific

         23  recommendations in this resolution, as it relates to

         24  the case of Mr. Louima, should also be adopted.

         25                 I do not see anywhere in here that
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          2  instructs the judiciary on an outcome. To call on

          3  the prosecutors to bring people to justice does not

          4  say that you must convict or quit. It says that you

          5  must prosecute those that are guilty.

          6                 And I beg to differ with you. There

          7  are have been many cases where members of the

          8  judiciary have come before legislative bodies and

          9  recommended laws, and it's up to the legislative

         10  bodies on whether or not they would adopt the laws.

         11                 Therefore, the reverse is also

         12  appropriate for a legislative body to say we suggest

         13  these cases be looked into, and the judiciary can

         14  determine the guilt or innocence of those that are

         15  involved in the case.

         16                 I don't think that anywhere in here

         17  says you must convict anyone, but I think that

         18  clearly there's a calling that these cases should be

         19  moved forward, and the body of legislators feel

         20  strongly enough about it to make a resolution.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But there are

         22  conclusions in here about the status of these

         23  officers and that they should not be allowed to

         24  serve and that --

         25                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, that's a
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          2  City issue. That's not a judiciary issue.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: What they

          4  have alleged to have done that they have done --

          5  again, this case, what happened to Mr. Louima is a

          6  horrible thing, but for us as a City Council now to

          7  interject ourselves into a judicial process and make

          8  conclusions about what these officers are charged of

          9  doing is wrong because we're interjecting ourselves

         10  into a process.

         11                 And, again, you answered my question

         12  by saying that you're here to argue both --

         13                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Could I just

         14  address that part, and then you can --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

         16                 REVEREND SHARPTON: First of all, sir,

         17  the continuation of their employment in the Police

         18  Department is not a judiciary consideration, that is

         19  under the City, that goes under the Police

         20  Commissioner which is certainly in the purview of

         21  the City Council.

         22                 Secondly, even the judges that

         23  overturned the conviction never said they didn't do

         24  any criminal acts. They said that on a technicality

         25  it reversed the convictions.
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          2                 If you read the decision, they

          3  clearly said they engaged in wrongdoing, and I think

          4  that this Council has a responsibility to determine

          5  whether or not policemen that a court found to be

          6  doing wrong should continue in that place, in those

          7  duties as a City employee, and that clearly is

          8  something that the prosecutors could never answer

          9  that has to come from the Police Commissioner and

         10  certainly the City Council has bearing on his

         11  opinion.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But, again,

         13  you ask us to make conclusions in this specific case

         14  to address bigger issues, and I think that's where I

         15  find the problem with this resolution, and I

         16  certainly look forward to working with you and the

         17  members of this Committee and all New Yorkers to

         18  work on the bigger problems that you address this

         19  morning. But I think it's wrong for us to use this

         20  particular case and the horrors that befell Mr.

         21  Louima and those who were charged with it, to use

         22  those particular cases to make a bigger point.

         23                 I think that we should be making that

         24  point, but we should not be doing it by asking the

         25  Council to engage in an action that is beyond its
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          2  scope or powers.

          3                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, I disagree,

          4  but since you want to work together, you can join me

          5  in the minority coffee break that the Minority

          6  Leader and I have.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I appreciate

          8  that, because Council Member Oddo wasn't going to

          9  invite me on his own, so I appreciate you

         10  interceding on behalf of the Democrats. Thank you.

         11                 REVEREND SHARPTON: It's a growing

         12  tab.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         14  McMahon, just to your concerns, you may want to know

         15  that we did invite the New York Police Department

         16  and Brooklyn DA's office to testify today so that we

         17  could put everything into context.

         18                 Thank you so much for your comments.

         19                 At this time I'd like to ask Council

         20  Member Lanza, how has something.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair.

         23                 Reverend Sharpton, first off, I drink

         24  tea, I hope that doesn't get me excluded from this

         25  group.
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          2                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Why do I feel like

          3  this is the opening round of the Republican Primary

          4  2005 for Mayor?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: I've got an off

          6  year this year.

          7                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Oh, okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: First, as I

          9  understand part of your testimony, in effect it's a

         10  call for justice, and in that, this Council Member,

         11  and I believe each and every one of my colleagues

         12  support you. And, in fact, no one can defend the

         13  barbaric crime committed against Mr. Louima. And, in

         14  fact, there is someone that's, one culprit is

         15  serving a lengthy jail sentence for that crime, and

         16  whoever else was involved with the commission of

         17  that crime, it is my opinion, belongs in jail.

         18                 The concern I have, and I wonder

         19  whether you share it, is whether this is the proper

         20  forum to try this case. Because in effect, this

         21  resolution calls on us to do that in part. We've got

         22  a lot of folks running around that act as though

         23  they were there on the scene when the crime is

         24  committed, and to those I say that you ought to

         25  report to the District Attorney and let him know
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          2  that you're an eyewitness to the crime.

          3                 There are lots of facts that could be

          4  raised in support of Mr. Schwarz's innocence, but I

          5  don't think it's appropriate for me to bring them up

          6  here because, again, my concern is that this is not

          7  the proper forum for that trial. And in effect, this

          8  Councilman McMahon has said, in his resolution we

          9  are offering punishment for actions attributed to

         10  this officer that he may or may not have committed,

         11  and you raise your expression of confidence in our

         12  jury system by mentioning that he was convicted by

         13  two jurors, juries, indicted by three grand juries,

         14  and to me that says that you have confidence in that

         15  system, that that means something to you, and, so,

         16  my suggestion or my question is why we don't allow

         17  this case to go into the proper forum, the forum in

         18  which you've expressed confidence in, and let it be

         19  resolved there?

         20                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, let me say

         21  this: One, I think that we're not asking the case to

         22  be tried here, we're asking that the Council go on

         23  record calling for the cases to be tried. And

         24  there's no one that guarantees what will happen,

         25  once the cases are tried, but clearly, we're not
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          2  asking for the case to be tried here.

          3                 I think that it is a responsibility,

          4  when you have such a blatant act of brutality, and

          5  clearly one person couldn't have done it and only

          6  one person is paying for it, that it is the

          7  responsibility of the legislators of that City to

          8  express concern about what that spells to the rest

          9  of the citizens of the City.

         10                 Thirdly, I think it is very important

         11  that, again, you read the decision of the judges.

         12  The judges said Mr. Schwarz absolutely engaged in

         13  wrongdoing. They felt because of the conflict of

         14  interest with his attorney that overturned the

         15  conviction.

         16                 So, the story, or the case of whether

         17  they should perform as officers again, you cannot

         18  say that the court said they didn't do wrong. Even

         19  the judges that called for the new trial said that

         20  they, in fact, lied and misled both local and

         21  federal law enforcement, and for this Council not to

         22  take a position that would have police on the force

         23  that have lied to other police, lied to internal

         24  affairs, lied to the FBI, I think is a sad and dark

         25  day in New York City, if the Council doesn't have
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          2  the courage to say we cannot tolerate those kind of

          3  policemen on the force.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Well, we have

          5  those concerns, we share those concerns. We don't

          6  tolerate that sort of conduct. But, again, you

          7  understand that we enjoy a jury system in this

          8  country.

          9                 REVEREND SHARPTON: You don't need a

         10  jury for that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: A jury system

         12  --

         13                 REVEREND SHARPTON: A jury can't take

         14  their jobs.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: You just

         16  stated, you just told us what judges have said, and

         17  their statements are not binding, and you asked

         18  Minority Leader Oddo a moment ago what evidence we

         19  have that the trials were in fact unfair. And the

         20  evidence is the fact that they've been reversed.

         21  That's the evidence.

         22                 And, again, without trying this case

         23  here, shouldn't we leave it to that system which has

         24  acted a number of times with respect to this case

         25  and continues, as we all know, to investigate the
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          2  happenings here.

          3                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I think, okay, in

          4  response to that, first of all, the trial by Charles

          5  Hynes has not been overturned because there never

          6  was a trial. There has not been prosecutions on the

          7  others, on the state level.

          8                 Secondly, I think that the same

          9  people that overturned two were the ones that called

         10  for a new trial, and, obviously, I said our concern

         11  is that that trial does go forward and that it not

         12  be lost in the politics of a new US attorney and a

         13  new judge.

         14                 So, if that trial is going to go

         15  forward, we are happy to wait on the result of that,

         16  the question is whether it will go forward, and I

         17  think I raised that in my opening statement.

         18                 Thirdly, I think that we must make it

         19  a crystal clear, that a jury does not determine

         20  future employment of these officers, that is within

         21  the hands of the Police Commissioner, whom I met

         22  with about this, but I think the City Council should

         23  be just as concerned as I am that policemen that

         24  have been found by any courts at least face a

         25  department that says these allegations are serious
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          2  and they have a right to defend themselves, but they

          3  certainly shouldn't go back to the force without

          4  answering these things, and none of that has

          5  happened.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: I agree with

          7  you. And my concern, though, is that we don't lose

          8  the fact that Mr. Schwarz has constitutional rights

          9  as well and I want to ensure that we don't trample

         10  those rights here. And, again, that's in no way a

         11  defense of what happened, but while there's a

         12  question as to what his conduct in fact was, we

         13  should not be convicting him, and that's my concern.

         14                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I don't think we

         15  should convict him. I think we should prosecute him.

         16  Then I think a jury will have to decide on a

         17  conviction or acquittal, and I think two juries

         18  have, and I think if we have a fair trial, the third

         19  one probably will as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Well, I was

         21  going to leave it at that, but that's my concern

         22  here is that we all seem to know what happened here.

         23                 You know, we trust in the system, and

         24  you say let's have a third trial, you know, and to

         25  taint it from the beginning and poison it from the
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          2  beginning by saying and you know that they're going

          3  to find them guilty.

          4                 REVEREND SHARPTON: No, I think I said

          5  probably, and I say that because I did talk to one

          6  person that was there, Abner Louima. I have an

          7  advantage over you, I talked to the guy that was

          8  there. Abner Louima was the one who testified at

          9  both trials against Mr. Schwarz.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And, again --

         11                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I attended the

         12  other trials of Mr. Schwarz. Reverend Daughtry was

         13  there every day. Maybe the City Council ought to

         14  come down to the new trial and sit in every day, and

         15  you might be as outraged as I am.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Yes, I'm

         17  outraged by the crime, not doubt about that. But

         18  again, Reverend, I believe this is not the proper

         19  forum to try the case. I'll not bring up the many

         20  facts that seem to suggest innocence in this matter

         21  as well, and I don't know, and I haven't reached the

         22  conclusion here because I can never reach a

         23  conclusion because I was not there, I haven't heard

         24  the evidence. But you hear that Mr. Louima, you

         25  know, on a number of occasions was not able to
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          2  identify Police Officer Schwarz, and, so, those are

          3  facts and they were out there but it's not for us to

          4  really --

          5                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, first of

          6  all, Mr. Louima testified at both trials and Mr.

          7  Louima is the one adamant about Mr. Schwarz being

          8  retried. So, that is not true. That's why I invite

          9  you to the trial, and the best for you to come is to

         10  make sure we have one, which is why I will support

         11  this resolution.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

         13  Reverend Sharpton.

         14                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Lanza.

         17                 Council Member Barron.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: We want to

         19  thank you, Reverend Sharpton, for your testimony,

         20  and for your frank, honest, energetic exchange for

         21  those of us who view the world differently, even

         22  though we're looking at the same incidence, reading

         23  the same counts of it, but it's just a very, very

         24  different view of the world. And I wanted to talk to

         25  you more about the actual, the appeal overturn,
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          2  which is what Council Member Ognibene, former

          3  Council Member Ognibene almost pulled his shoulder

          4  out of socket trying to signal to Oddo to make sure

          5  you talk about the overturning part of it, and I

          6  think Oddo finally caught the signal and mentioned

          7  it.

          8                 REVEREND SHARPTON: It's good to --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Excuse me,

         10  sir.

         11                 I hope your arm is all right, I just

         12  wanted to make sure you didn't pull your shoulder

         13  out of socket.

         14                 Anyway, as I was saying, I'm just

         15  concerned about your health and your shoulder,

         16  because you wanted, you kept saying "overturn.""Get

         17  to the overturn. Get to the overturn."

         18                 So, I'm glad you got the signal so

         19  you all could deal with that. But the point I want

         20  to make, Reverend Sharpton, is that I think my

         21  colleagues know, and it's interesting, we'll never

         22  get rid of police brutality, racism, being in

         23  denial, we'll never get rid of it not owning up to

         24  the fact.

         25                 What this resolution says is, number
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          2  one, we want Schwarz to be retried. Not to try him,

          3  my colleagues, not to try him, we want to make sure

          4  he is retried, which is something that I don't think

          5  is asking a lot of.

          6                 Secondly, we also know that the Court

          7  of Appeals never said he was innocent. The Court of

          8  Appeals never said the other two officers were

          9  innocent. As a matter of fact, for the other two

         10  officers that were let go scott free, the Court of

         11  Appeals said the only reason why they overturned

         12  that is because the scope wasn't broad enough, that

         13  they appealed, they only focused on their lying to

         14  the grand jury, but the Court of Appeals actually

         15  said they lied to the federal investigators and they

         16  lied to the State Investigators and for that reason,

         17  since you didn't include that on the lower level

         18  that they should be released, not that they're

         19  innocent.

         20                 So, we're not talking about a

         21  decision that's letting people go because they're

         22  innocent, and any time you go on the appellant term,

         23  as we have a lawyer here who will let you know, it's

         24  technical stuff. It's not whether or not you're

         25  innocent and guilty for the prior stuff. So, I
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          2  wanted to mention that.

          3                 The other thing that we're calling

          4  for, that these officers never work for the Police

          5  Department again, is because of what the grand jury

          6  said, was because of what the lower court said, is

          7  because of what every piece of the judiciary said,

          8  they should not, they are dangerous to our community

          9  if they could walk. Just as the four officers, we

         10  have a police officer now who actually emptied his

         11  gun 16 times on Amadou Diallo, McMillian, and he's

         12  working in the Fire Department in East New York now.

         13  I'm very concerned about whose house he might go in

         14  when it's on fire, particularly if it's our

         15  community.

         16                 So, when we look at this resolution,

         17  we have a responsibility, as a legislative body,

         18  just as all of the politicians and legislators that

         19  came together when Limerick Nelson was found

         20  innocent in one court around the whole incident in

         21  Crown Heights, he was found innocent, and then

         22  politicians came together, legislators came

         23  together, and I'm sure nobody on this Committee now,

         24  the ones who are opposing us, were opposed to those

         25  politicians and those legislators getting involved

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            48

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  and making sure that the judiciary did something

          3  that they thought was just. And he was tried again.

          4  So, this happens all the time.

          5                 But when it comes to us, I think more

          6  horrendous than the 6 41 shots at Amadou and more

          7  horrendous than the sodomizing of Abner Louima is

          8  the judiciary sodomizing of our community and not

          9  having justice when these horrendous acts occur.

         10                 So, we're not impressed that you

         11  think this act was so horrendous. Everybody has to

         12  think that. That doesn't impress us. We don't think

         13  well of you because you said that. No one can be

         14  happy about 41 bullets or sodomony or Patrick

         15  Dorismund getting shot in his heart for nothing. So,

         16  no one is impressed that you find that horrendous.

         17  Every human being should.

         18                 What I think you should find

         19  horrendous is that we cannot get justice when those

         20  things happen. That's what I think should be more

         21  disturbing to you than anything else. And then you

         22  come up with all of these bogus arguments, and make

         23  it sound intelligent, too, Reverend Sharpton,

         24  they're very good with the standard English with it

         25  and everything, they sound very intelligent --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Madam Chair,

          3  point of personal privilege.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Don't let him

          5  interrupt me. Nobody interrupted you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are you going to

          7  allow this to continue, Madam Chair? This is an ad

          8  homonym attack and I'm not going to sit and listen

          9  to.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Nobody

         11  interrupted you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm not going to

         13  sit and listen to it. All the fancy language and all

         14  of that. You want to make a point? Make a point,

         15  Charles.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I had to sit

         17  and listen to you nonsense --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, but I

         19  didn't attack you personally, Council member.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Then leave.

         21  You don't want to listen? Leave.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, Council

         23  member, despite your wishes, I am an equal member of

         24  this body, Council Member.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You don't what
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          2  to listen, leave.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The difference

          4  between our testimony it was that it wasn't an ad

          5  homonym attack.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Folks. Folks.

          7  Folks.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Tell him. We

          9  had to listen to his nonsense.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Charles.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And for the

         12  record, Council member, I make no apologies for

         13  having a great staff.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         15  Oddo, Council Member Oddo, Council Member Barron,

         16  this is a hearing and, you know, I would ask that in

         17  order that we really bring some tangible light to

         18  this topic that we not engage in this type of thing.

         19  And it's very clear that you both have very

         20  distinctive opinions on both sides of this issue,

         21  and I think it's important that the City of New York

         22  get an opportunity to hear the issue. It's very

         23  important. Our communities are concerned about how

         24  criminal justice services are needed in the City of

         25  New York. I would ask that we refrain from any
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          2  personal interactions, but stay clearly on the issue

          3  because I'd like for the people of the City of New

          4  York to clearly see and understand the issues that

          5  are confronting us, and I understand that both of

          6  you have very strong points of view and I think it's

          7  been made clear here today.

          8                 So, I would ask both of you to take a

          9  deep breath and stand firm in your beliefs, but do

         10  not direct them to one another.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you very

         13  much for that wise advice and wise Council.

         14                 Reverend Sharpton, my question is

         15  more on the appeal, and I think it's important for

         16  people to understand what that appeal was saying,

         17  and the technical part of it and the parts of it

         18  that support that these officers did some very wrong

         19  things.

         20                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I think that, Mr.

         21  Barron, what you raised, and I had said in my

         22  response to both Councilman Lanza and Oddo, is that

         23  the Appeals Court clearly states in their decision

         24  that these officers, particularly Schwarz, misled

         25  both the State and the federal authorities and
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          2  investigators. And I think on that basis alone, the

          3  Police Department should never want them or any

          4  other City agency, because they violated their oath

          5  of office, and I think that that is of particular

          6  concern to this body of legislators.

          7                 I agree that their judges or

          8  statements I think Councilman Lanza raise is not

          9  binding, and they have the right to challenge that,

         10  and they have a right to a hearing and they have a

         11  right to answer that. But there is nothing wrong

         12  with based on the findings of a court of their

         13  misconduct for you to take that position and give

         14  them a chance to defend themselves, but, clearly, to

         15  tell the people of this City that they can go back

         16  to work without even dealing with the findings of

         17  those in the judiciary, I think is an absolute

         18  unthinkable type of situation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         22  James Sanders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Jr.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Good morning,

          3  Reverend, Doctor? How are you, sir?

          4                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Fine.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Fine. I think

          6  that, you know, we can find justice with passion,

          7  and I think we could also find justice in a very

          8  dispassionate fashion, that we can state our

          9  positions and just let the truth of the situation

         10  speak for itself.

         11                 Of course, as one of the sponsors of

         12  this bill, I think that it's -- I think it's a fine

         13  thing, but I also have to say that my colleagues are

         14  fine people all on this panel. I think that everyone

         15  is, I would like to believe that everyone is doing

         16  what they believe is right, and I respect that.

         17                 No one, of course, is calling for,

         18  saying that we want to try this case. As I

         19  understand it, we're calling for a prosecution. I

         20  think that in a court of law, let the facts speak

         21  for themselves and let that be understood.

         22                 This Council, of course, injects

         23  itself in every moral issue, as we should, from

         24  Israel, to Palestine, to Ireland, to Burma, as we

         25  should. I think that we have an obligation to speak
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          2  up in the troubles of the world. Wherever there is

          3  injustice, we should be seeking justice, and if that

          4  is a problem of New York City, then we need to be

          5  bold enough to speak of it here too, and not just

          6  put all of our energies into injustices in other

          7  lands, which need to be spoken about, of course.

          8                 Sadly, justice is often not neutral.

          9  Justice is often not neutral. With this so the PBA

         10  and other groups would not be extending so much time

         11  and energy in making sure of this.

         12                 People have to really figure out what

         13  they believe is right and how to move for that.

         14                 You could look at the history of this

         15  country. I mean, we could look at many decisions by

         16  courts, whether we look at the Dredd Scott decision,

         17  whether we look at the broken treaties with the

         18  Native Americans, whether we look at a lot of things

         19  to say that politics, of course, plays a role in

         20  decisions. But just as politics can play a negative

         21  role, politics can play a positive role if we're

         22  bold enough to say this is what is right and this is

         23  what we need to move for.

         24                 With that in mind, I want to let

         25  people know that, of course, this is not a blanket
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          2  condemnation of all police, this is a blanket

          3  condemnation of all criminals who wear uniforms of

          4  any different types.

          5                 Certainly a crime was committed. I

          6  believe that everyone up here is saying it.

          7  Certainly some officers, one or several officers,

          8  committed some very serious acts that every justice

          9  loving person should be the first to oppose.

         10                 Certainly there's a question of

         11  justice that is lacking and we need to get to the

         12  end of it.

         13                 Is this the group to get that

         14  justice? No. Absolutely not. Is this a group that

         15  should be pursuing justice? Absolutely. I believe

         16  that's why, one of the reasons, we were elected.

         17                 So, I applaud -- I'm sorry I wasn't

         18  here to hear many of your statements earlier, sir,

         19  but your record on the issue of this and your record

         20  on the issue of justice is well known to me, as it

         21  is to my constituents.

         22                 So, I urge all of my colleagues, you

         23  know, to do what they think is right, and they need

         24  not spend their time on each other, let's attack and

         25  deal with the merits of this particular case, and
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          2  let's let a court deal with the merits of the larger

          3  case.

          4                 Thank you very much. And thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, I just want

          7  to agree with you, and I think that there are all

          8  kinds of resolutions that deal way beyond the

          9  purview of these Council Chambers that are taken

         10  here, and I've never protested you taking on any of

         11  them, whether I agree or disagree. I think it is

         12  proper for people to take a position, and I hope

         13  that they will take a position in support of this.

         14                 And as for Council members arguing

         15  with one another, I hope my presence didn't inspire

         16  any disharmony.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         18  Council Member James Sanders, Jr.

         19                 Council Member Boyland.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I just want

         21  to make a statement about this heated discussion

         22  that we're having.

         23                 I think that this should lead us to a

         24  seguay into a larger issue in terms of looking at

         25  the injustices of the Police Department.
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          2                 Now, don't get me wrong, they are --

          3  there are some very good police officers, but there

          4  are also some very bad police officers and there may

          5  be a systemic problem within the Police Department

          6  that may need to be addressed at this point, in

          7  terms of how communities of color are looked at, how

          8  the policing is done, if indeed the Police

          9  Department can indeed police itself.

         10                 So, I think, in making that

         11  statement, I think that this should begin to lead us

         12  into something in terms of meeting with the

         13  Commissioner to sort of design policies that has

         14  already been designed through David Dinkins

         15  Administration and so on to lead us, to find out

         16  what are some of the problems that need to be

         17  addressed in the Police Department. Is it an

         18  oversight? Are we constantly depending on the DA's

         19  office to come in, or should we be able to work with

         20  the Police Department and the Commissioner himself

         21  to say, well, look, you realize that maybe there are

         22  some bad exols (phonetic), or there are some bad

         23  captains, there are some bad lieutenants, are some

         24  bad detectives that we may need to be able to

         25  address, so problems like this do not continue.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Boyland, and I will certainly pass

          5  that suggestion on to our colleague Peter Vallone,

          6  Jr., under whose purview the Police Department is.

          7                 Are there any other comments or

          8  questions for my colleagues at this time for the

          9  Reverend Al Sharpton?

         10                 Council Member Monserrate.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: In reading

         12  this resolution, I found at times myself questioning

         13  some of the language specifically that these

         14  individuals should never again be allowed to serve

         15  as police officers, questioning as to in, in fact,

         16  they had their day in court and in fact they were

         17  found not guilty, would they have the opportunity to

         18  once again serve as police officers, and that is a

         19  scary statement by itself for many New Yorkers.

         20                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Well, first of

         21  all, they were not found not guilty. Two of them

         22  were overturned, and the courts, if you read the

         23  decision, never said they weren't guilty, they were

         24  overturned on technicalities. And the other one was

         25  ordered a retrial.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 But secondly, there are any number of

          3  cases, and Lieutenant Adams, probably who is going

          4  to testify today, probably can cite them because he

          5  knows this issue better than any one, any number of

          6  cases where policemen have been acquitted but still

          7  found their conduct violated the Police Department.

          8  You don't have to be convicted of a crime to have

          9  violated the police code and violated the oath of

         10  office for the City, so one doesn't necessarily

         11  follow the other, no, sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right. And

         13  as I recall, you actually testified on behalf of a

         14  once Officer Mercado.

         15                 REVEREND SHARPTON: That's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Can you

         17  give us a brief --

         18                 REVEREND SHARPTON: I testified that

         19  Officer Mercado had the right on his off time to

         20  express his political views, views that I disagreed

         21  with, but that he had the civil right and civil

         22  liberty to express them. I'm very happy you

         23  mentioned that, so no one could leave you saying I'm

         24  anti-police.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Can you
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          2  tell us a little bit about the Mercado --

          3                 REVEREND SHARPTON: It was a white

          4  police officer in Brooklyn. I'm trying to think of

          5  the area.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Broad

          7  Channel.

          8                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Broad Channel. Who

          9  had engaged in a mocking anti-black -- he did a

         10  demonstration of the dragging of Bird, James Bird in

         11  Texas, who I spoke at his funeral. And I said that

         12  he still had a constitutional right to do what he

         13  wanted on his off time. But this was not a crime.

         14  Because I felt there was some they wanted to raise

         15  positions on black officers doing what they wanted

         16  to do on their time.

         17                 We're not talking here about

         18  politics, we're not talking about social views,

         19  we're talking about criminal acts and we're talking

         20  about acts that would impair criminal

         21  investigations, and for these officers that have

         22  engaged in that, they do not have a constitutional

         23  right to do and continue working.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And

         25  Officer Mercado was never charged or convicted of
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          2  any criminal activity?

          3                 REVEREND SHARPTON: He wasn't charged

          4  with a crime.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: But he was

          6  subsequently terminated by the NYPD?

          7                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Against my

          8  testimony. I testified on his behalf, as I'm

          9  testifying today that these gentlemen ought to be

         10  permanently terminated. And I hope that you would

         11  take my advice differently than the Police

         12  Department did on Mr. Mercado.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         14  very much, Reverend.

         15                 REVEREND SHARPTON: And I thank you

         16  for my character, and I'll buy your coffee. I should

         17  have used that when Oddo was throwing them rights.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, Reverend

         19  Sharpton, we really thank you for taking the time

         20  from your schedule to at least bring a very

         21  important perspective to this issue. It's our hope

         22  that through the dialogue and discussion with

         23  respect to this resolution that we can shine a light

         24  that needs to be shined throughout the City of New

         25  York and certainly to many communities of color who
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          2  tend to be in a very cloudy mist when it comes to

          3  the clarity of justice in the City of New York. So,

          4  thank you so much.

          5                 REVEREND SHARPTON: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to call

          7  Attorney Sanford Rubenstein to give his testimony at

          8  this time.

          9                 MR. RUBENSTEIN: My name is Sanford

         10  Rubenstein. I'm an attorney with a law practice at

         11  16 Court Street, Brooklyn, New York.

         12                 I was one of the team of lawyers who

         13  represented Abner Louima civilly, with regard to the

         14  Louima matter.

         15                 I commend this body for bringing up

         16  this resolution for consideration. I've always felt

         17  it's important for elected officials to take

         18  positions on issues which they may not in effect

         19  have the executive capacity to enforce, to let the

         20  Executive branch know what your position is,

         21  particularly with regard to the issue of these three

         22  police officers, whether they're permitted to return

         23  to the force at some date or not.

         24                 Certainly a legislative body that

         25  represents the people of the City of New York have
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          2  the right to go on record with regard to the facts

          3  that are already out there, particularly the

          4  appellate decision of the Circuit Court of Appeals,

          5  which clearly laid out its interpretation of the

          6  evidence in the case with regard to these three

          7  police officers lying to state and federal

          8  investigators. And once you have that before you,

          9  you certainly can take that position with regard to

         10  your responsibility as a public official to say they

         11  should not be allowed back on the police force based

         12  on the record that exists, a record which is very

         13  clear, which you have before you.

         14                 Secondly, and most importantly, I'd

         15  like to address the issue of the independent

         16  prosecutor, which you have as part of your

         17  resolution. One of the facts that is a fact of life

         18  is that local district attorneys rely on police

         19  officers' testimony on a daily basis in a while

         20  myriad of cases, and certainly those who wish to

         21  prosecute police officers should, in a perfect

         22  world, be independent from those prosecutors who are

         23  dependent on police officers for their testimony to

         24  make cases.

         25                 I certainly think that a special
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          2  prosecutor on issues of police brutality or even the

          3  attorney general to prosecute those cases would be

          4  advantageous to have no question of conflict with

          5  regard to district attorneys who must utilize police

          6  officers on a daily basis to make their cases. So, I

          7  think that that part of your resolution, while it's

          8  a memorializing part, it's something that you're

          9  asking the State Legislature to do because that's in

         10  their power, is also something which you as elected

         11  officials should be on record with regard to, take

         12  your position and urge the State Legislature to

         13  enact the enabling legislation to permit either an

         14  independent prosecutor to prosecute cases of police

         15  brutality or the Attorney General.

         16                 I think that that would be something

         17  which would act as a deterrent to future acts of

         18  police brutality, because after all, what is it that

         19  you want to do? You want to set a climate in which

         20  police officers know that they will be held

         21  accountable for acts that they commit which are

         22  criminal, and I think an independent prosecutor

         23  would be very helpful in that regard.

         24                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         25  address this body.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          3  Attorney Rubenstein. Do you have any questions?

          4                 Charles Barron.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you for

          6  your testimony. And once again, I just want to make

          7  sure that there's clarity on the appeal and what the

          8  judge has actually said. And I think it's very, very

          9  important coming from you to make it very, very

         10  clear so that people don't get a sense that we're

         11  doing such a great disservice to a bunch of innocent

         12  men whose cases were overturned.

         13                 So, if you could just give a little

         14  more on that?

         15                 MR. RUBENSTEIN: I'll summarize the

         16  best I can my interpretation. But I suggest each and

         17  every one of you who are voting on this resolution

         18  read the decision of the Circuit Court.  In that

         19  decision, while the Circuit Court overturned the

         20  conviction for conspiring to obstruct justice of

         21  Schwarz, Bruder and Wiese, they stated clearly that

         22  had the conviction been simply for lying to state

         23  and federal investigators, it would not have been

         24  overturned.

         25                 Clearly, the Circuit Court was
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          2  telling something to those who read that decision.

          3  And certainly on that basis, it's within the purview

          4  of the Police Commissioner not to allow these police

          5  officers back to work, irrespective of convictions

          6  or acquittals in criminal cases.

          7                 So, I urge each and every one of you

          8  to read that decision.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         10  much. I appreciate that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are there any

         12  other questions from my colleagues?

         13                 An attorney of your stature, you're

         14  always on the run, but we --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Good thing we're

         16  not paying him by the hour.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That's what I'm

         18  talking about, Jimmy.

         19                 I'd like to thank you, Mr.

         20  Rubenstein, clearly, for coming, and giving us that

         21  clarity with respect to the court's decision, as

         22  well as I think putting a framework around what

         23  we're trying to accomplish and what we see, at least

         24  some of my colleagues see, as a role of the

         25  Legislature in terms of advocating for justice. We
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          2  really appreciate your comments here today.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. RUBENSTEIN: Any other questions?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I think you went

          6  straight to the heart of the matter, sir.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 I'd like to call the Reverend Herbert

          9  Daughtry.

         10                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: I've brought a

         11  copy of my book that I wrote a couple of years ago.

         12  I didn't know how many persons would be on the City

         13  Council, but if after reading, or if you desire --

         14  my name is Herbert Daughtry. I pastor, I am the

         15  National Minister for The House of the Lord Church

         16  -- so, if you care to have a copy of the book, I

         17  will see that you get one.

         18                 Let me first commend you,

         19  Councilwoman Yvette Clarke, and all of the members

         20  of the Council and the young man, of course, seated

         21  next to you, I'm trying to remember his name, that

         22  I've been knowing for many, many years, Minority

         23  Leader, let me commend you for the resolution and

         24  for the work that you're doing, and for all of the

         25  persons who are here who have been fighting long on
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          2  this issue.

          3                 By way of introduction, allow me to

          4  say, I don't want my remarks to be construed as

          5  condemnation of the entire Police Department. I

          6  think I enjoy a rather cordial relationship with

          7  most officers in the City, but criminal behavior

          8  isn't confined, as you know better than I, to direct

          9  commission of a crime, but criminal behavior also

         10  means withholding evidence. When police officers say

         11  they are with the blue wall of silence proposition,

         12  and history has taught us that they not only say it,

         13  but they have implemented it, thus when we make a

         14  general statement of criticism, it must stand until

         15  the blue wall of silence cease existing, tumbling

         16  down.

         17                 If the so-called few bad apples are

         18  not thrown out, they will contaminate the entire

         19  barrel.

         20                 There is a cruel irony as it relates

         21  to this law enforcement, or law enforcement people,

         22  and the black and really Latino communities, the

         23  people we pay to protect us, we need somebody to

         24  protect us from them.

         25                 Seventy-two long winters have I
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          2  sojourned on the side of history, 44 years have I

          3  pastored the same church, and an integral part of my

          4  ministry has been to challenge the abuse of police

          5  power that are found existing everywhere.

          6                 I have lived north and south, east

          7  and west, and in every city I've lived, there have

          8  always been tension, and that's a euphemism, between

          9  the police and our community.

         10                 I brought the books, there is a

         11  chapter in the book which addresses this question.

         12                 A young lad named Randy Evans, a

         13  15-year-old, was shot in the head November 1976 by

         14  an officer named Robert Torsney (phonetic) for

         15  absolutely no reason at all. And he was not the

         16  first. There was Ricky Borden, 11-year-old, State

         17  Island; Jay Parker, 15-year-old, Jamaica, Queens;

         18  Clifford Glover, 11 years old, Jamaica. Jay Parker

         19  was in Queens. Claude Reiss, 14-year-old, Brooklyn;

         20  and, of course, Senior Hayward is here, his son, he

         21  was 13, killed by police officers.

         22                 In addition to that we can cite

         23  women. Marion Johnson, killed, a woman, Brooklyn,

         24  1977. Elizabeth Manglan, killed by the police,

         25  Brooklyn, 1978. And we all know about Eleanore
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          2  Bumpers, 300 pound arthritic grandmother, in her own

          3  house, shot with the most lethal weapon the police

          4  had, a shotgun.

          5                 So, when we think of the police,

          6  there is a long list of abuses. Toward that end, we

          7  have appealed always to outside bodies. I was one of

          8  the persons who encouraged John Conners, who at the

          9  time was chair of the Subcommittee of the Judiciary

         10  Committee in Congress to come to New York, came on

         11  two occasions, in the eighties. Councilman Charles

         12  Barron has already indicated his statement relative

         13  to the Police Department, was that it was endemic

         14  and pervasive.

         15                 Recently, a couple of years ago,

         16  there was another hearing growing out of the Amadou

         17  Diallo case.

         18                 Our history in this country has

         19  always been to look beyond the local law

         20  enforcement, that is where we get the civil right

         21  statutes. The local people would not do justly.

         22                 So, this body follows in that

         23  history, and I applaud you for the work that you're

         24  doing.

         25                 The resolution, which calls for the
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          2  -- opposes the reinstatement, I think the attorney

          3  has argued eloquently, and I need not tax you for

          4  your time, to point out that the officers were

          5  guilty of lying, and it is true, and I'm hesitant in

          6  treading in this ground, but it is true that police

          7  officers who have been acquitted by juries have

          8  nevertheless not been allowed back on the force. So,

          9  there is a difference. To call for the retrial of

         10  these persons I think is acting in the interest of

         11  your constituencies.

         12                 Again, justice has alluded our

         13  people. The powers that be seem not at all, in most

         14  instances, to want to embrace our people in the arms

         15  of justice. Therefore, again, you appeal to a

         16  legislative body, a governmental body, and to say we

         17  want to have these officers retried, I fail to see

         18  how that violate any of their rights.

         19                 We have been calling for the Special

         20  Prosecutor, as you will note in my book, for I don't

         21  know how many years, with regard that that request

         22  or demand had been implemented, maybe we wouldn't be

         23  sitting here today.

         24                 We had a Special Prosecutor Michael

         25  Griffith case. We've always had to appeal outside of
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          2  the local bodies.

          3                 It seems that the majority population

          4  have an undying love with the Police Department,

          5  which does not allow it to see, as Councilman Barron

          6  said, through our eyes.

          7                 I had experienced just recently, my

          8  wife and I were driving on the highway, and I must

          9  confess here, I did take a little liberty with the

         10  speed limit, and the police officer flagged me and

         11  came to the car and my wife was on the passenger

         12  side, and he said to me "what do you have in the

         13  compartment, the glove compartment?"

         14                 "We don't have anything."

         15                 He said, "Open it."

         16                 And my wife, instinctively, I guess,

         17  obeying the law, reached for the compartment and I

         18  jumped, "don't touch it," and flew into a rage. And

         19  the police officer was startled. He said "what do

         20  you got in there? You got something?" I said, "No,

         21  no. You're setting me up. You're setting me up.

         22  Because as soon as she reaches for that compartment

         23  you're going to blow her away and me and her

         24  fingerprints are going to be on the glove

         25  compartment and nothing will be done to you." And he
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          2  looked at me, he said, "You're really frightened?" I

          3  said, "Yeah. Yes, I'm frightened.

          4                 I have been to too many funerals in

          5  which people who had done nothing. I've held too

          6  many sobbing mothers in my arms whose children have

          7  been laid to rest, haven't done anything. The term

          8  "shiny object." You know what? I'll tell you

          9  something, the only reason we're here on this Louima

         10  case is they didn't kill him. They made the mistake

         11  of not killing him. If they would have killed him we

         12  wouldn't be here. They do not convict officers or

         13  bring them to the court. I was trying to think of a

         14  single case, a single solitary case in which

         15  somebody was killed in the Police Department and

         16  officers were brought to justice.

         17                 Fortunately, as horrendous as the

         18  crime was, Louima is still alive, and could tell the

         19  story. That is what we're up against.

         20                 And, so, a Special Prosecutor, it

         21  seemed to me, is long overdue. Long overdue, as at

         22  least one effort, one attempt to bring in, to rein

         23  in this abuse of police power.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,
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          2  Reverend Daughtry. Putting that into historical

          3  context was certainly, you know, enlightening for

          4  me. I was a Randolph Evans Scholarship winner, and,

          5  so, I'm very familiar, and, so, as a child I

          6  remember the Randolph Evans' incident at the 71st

          7  Precinct very, very well. It's ironic, because a

          8  number of these incidents, which have not received

          9  justice, it seems as though the district that I

         10  represent is the epicenter for these activities,

         11  and, so, it is really important for me and I know

         12  for my constituency that there be some clarity, that

         13  there be some measure of discussion about this in a

         14  public arena. Because often times there's at least

         15  the sentiment in the community that they have to

         16  suffer through this alone, that the politicians do

         17  nothing --

         18                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That, you know,

         20  if justice is not served in the court room, their

         21  plight is forgotten.

         22                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And, so, I think

         24  it important for all of my colleagues to, regardless

         25  of where they fall philosophically understand the
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          2  need for this type of dialogue and discussion and

          3  the need to bring resolutions that may be a bit

          4  contentious, because there's contention out there,

          5  and we're simply a reflection of what we represent.

          6                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: May I, Councilman?

          7  Is it in order for me to -- yes, just a couple of

          8  things. You are so right. Listen, I'm a Pastor 44

          9  years. I would love to be in the street. I mean,

         10  I've got hospitals to visit, I've got counseling to

         11  do, I've got sermon preparation, I'm not in love

         12  with the street, but precisely as you put it, the

         13  people, and we know, feel they have nowhere to go.

         14  So, they appeal to preachers, usually we call from

         15  our pool pit, or whatever, and then what happens,

         16  they kill us, we raise the issue and we become

         17  hoodlums. They demonize us, I'm a rabble-rouser

         18  (phonetic). Forty-four years have I pastored the

         19  same church in the City, never call for violence

         20  against anyone, and yet, when I have raised this

         21  question they demonize me.

         22                 And as Reverend Sharpton has said,

         23  and I will argue to my last breath, that New York

         24  ought to be eternally grateful to us, Reverend

         25  Sharpton, Charles Barron, myself, and I could name
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          2  others, because what we did in the street is gave

          3  people an opportunity to express their outrage and

          4  their anger without tearing the City up, and, yet,

          5  we become demonized. I am the demon. I am the

          6  criminal.

          7                 When Louie Baez was killed, shot 23

          8  times, August 1978, in Brooklyn. Mother could barely

          9  speak English, called us, we went to the precinct to

         10  inquire about it. The news media said, there's

         11  Reverend Daughtry, he's a hoodlum, watch him. The

         12  police just got finished putting 27 bullets in a

         13  frail man, and I'm the culprit.

         14                 So, you're absolutely right because

         15  the powers that be do not step forward to protect

         16  our people. We have to come from various -- and we

         17  don't get paid for it. I don't get a dime for doing

         18  all this stuff. Not at all. And I have no political

         19  ambition, so I'm just out there because the people

         20  need somebody to be out there.

         21                 So, you're right, and that's why this

         22  body, what you do is important. The word goes back

         23  to the street. You know what the word? "There is a

         24  new day in the City Council." That there's a new day

         25  and we're going to see a difference. And thank God
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          2  for those of you, and particularly I want to applaud

          3  my son and brother, protege Councilman Charles

          4  Barron, for the way he has conducted himself, you,

          5  Yvette Clarke, your mother. Being an old man, you

          6  know, you've kind of been around awhile and I look

          7  and I see the children of people who have been

          8  struggling with me all these years, and, so, you

          9  have an opportunity to deliver a message, that, yes,

         10  this is a new day. And I still don't believe you are

         11  violating anybody's rights.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are there any

         13  other comments or questions from my colleagues at

         14  this time?

         15                 Council Member Sanders, Jr.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Sir, Pastor,

         17  it was good to see you again, sir.

         18                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I don't know

         20  if anybody else felt a quieting when you spoke, when

         21  you gave a very sad roll call of names that should

         22  not be forgotten, very, very sad. And I'm sure no

         23  one who knows anything about these cases would feel

         24  anything but remorse, remorse that young life lost,

         25  and that's always sad.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            78

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 Of course, I can bring a personal,

          3  and I'm sure everyone knows, at least in my

          4  community, knows of names that should have been

          5  added to that list, but that never made it, never,

          6  there wasn't enough energy, enough outrage, or

          7  whatever it is that there were innocents who

          8  certainly should have been in that list that

          9  weren't. I recall right now my next door neighbor,

         10  who, you know, sadly -- well, that's a longer story,

         11  and it would take around 400 years for me to tell

         12  that one, so I won't even start.

         13                 I do recall, and somehow you

         14  triggered something of another name of police

         15  misconduct that had to be taken to a higher court,

         16  and that, of course, was Joan Bird down in North

         17  Carolina, who had been raped by a police officer and

         18  who managed to slay her attacker and, of course,

         19  local court had her in line with the death chamber.

         20                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: That's right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: But political

         22  pressure was used where she was able to get a fair

         23  trial and is a free woman today.

         24                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: So, you know,
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          2  there's enough precedence out there for this. This

          3  is not an unusual thing. And if people disagree with

          4  stuff, that's fine. If we find ourselves in doing

          5  things politically that we must do because of our

          6  ideology, that's fine, I have no argument with that

          7  myself. I just think there are some issues that are

          8  so above those things, that are so purely justice,

          9  that we need to say, look, I'm not going to be party

         10  to anything that is slowing down.

         11                 If I can't say something positive,

         12  I'm not going to say anything negative over the

         13  issue of justice.

         14                 Now, I ask that all of you excuse me.

         15  I have to go and get my own hearing which is

         16  supposed to be at 1:00. But Madam Chair, if my

         17  hearing is supposed to be in this room, we're not

         18  going to move you all out, we'll find a smaller room

         19  somewhere.

         20                 I may have to take one or two of your

         21  members from you for my hearing, but we will not

         22  move you out because this issue is just too

         23  pressing, and I urge everybody to struggle hard and

         24  long, because there is an issue of justice and that

         25  needs to be kept.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            80

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 At the next place, sir, I want an

          3  autograph of this book.

          4                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Thank you so much,

          5  Councilman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          7  Council Member Sanders, Jr.

          8                 Council Member Charles Barron.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, we want

         10  to thank you very much, Reverend Daughtry, Pastor

         11  Daughtry, for your testimony. Certainly, if we just

         12  let you tell the history of all the cases that

         13  you've been involved in, that would have consumed

         14  the entire hearing, unfortunately. And I just wanted

         15  to for the Council record, to commend you for being

         16  one of the first leaders to bring this issue to the

         17  attention of New York City under the Koch

         18  Administration and continuing thereafter under every

         19  Mayoral administration. And I also wanted to thank

         20  you on behalf of all the family of New York City

         21  that you comforted.

         22                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: The times that

         24  the cameras were not on you, when you have the

         25  sobbing mother or daughter, providing comfort.
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          2                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: There have

          4  been many times where people may see you on TV a

          5  lot, but what they don't see is when the cameras are

          6  not around and the comfort that you bring to

          7  families.

          8                 I also want to commend you for the

          9  analysis of the problem and your patience, because I

         10  just find it, just awesome that we would be sitting

         11  here trying to do a hearing, trying to do a

         12  resolution, so for you to sit here with all the

         13  years that you've fought this issue and to try to

         14  say that I want to sit at a hearing, and have a

         15  resolution that cannot make the DA do anything but

         16  the City Council saying that in spirit and just in

         17  moral obligation that we want to support Abner

         18  Louima in his quest for justice.

         19                 So, I applaud your patience, and your

         20  eloquence in presenting and your analysis on this

         21  case. We thank you so much. The entire City, and

         22  indeed this nation is indebted to you for your years

         23  of service around this particular question and

         24  others.

         25                 Thank you very much, sir.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            82

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are there any

          4  comments or questions from any of my other

          5  colleagues?

          6                 Well, Reverend Daughtry, we again

          7  appreciate --

          8                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Just one thing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Sure, certainly.

         10                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: On the Randy

         11  Evans, give me a chance to say that, Councilman

         12  Barron reminded me, as you did, Randi Evans, what we

         13  decided to do in his case is to keep it alive.

         14                 Every year since his murder, killing,

         15  we give ten students scholarships in his memory. For

         16  22 years we've been doing that now. We give them

         17  $1,500. Isn't it $1,500 every year? And then on the

         18  last, in fact I extend an invitation, on the last

         19  Saturday this month, June, we'd like to invite you

         20  to the luncheon and see us give these students the

         21  scholarships. And many of them come back. Some are

         22  doctors now, airline pilots, Councilwoman. So, I

         23  invite you to come to the occasion.

         24                 Finally, another irony, guess who we

         25  used to go to to take the cases of police killings
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          2  when the juries had acquitted them, guess who we

          3  went to? Giuliani. Yes. When he was the -- and I

          4  have to tell you, he was accessible, he was open, he

          5  was cordial. Yes, yes. And I was thinking, once he

          6  became the Mayor we were going to have a

          7  relationship, because obviously he know my history,

          8  it had nothing to do with what political person was

          9  in power, it had to do with my interest in this

         10  issue. So, I said, well, Rudy is in power, you know,

         11  we're going to have this pow wow and we going to be

         12  able to work together - but he did a flipflop. I

         13  mean, well, I don't know maybe the real Giuliani

         14  stood up, but it wasn't the same one as a

         15  prosecutor. So, we go around and around and around

         16  on this issue.

         17                 So, again, thank you very much for

         18  your patience in listening to an old senile man

         19  trying to make it from day to day. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         21  Reverend Daughtry.

         22                 I'd like to call Lieutenant Eric

         23  Adams to testify at this time.

         24                 LIEUTENANT ADAMS: Good afternoon,

         25  members of the Council, Council Member Clarke,
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          2  Councilman Barron, and I believe the Minority Leader

          3  has walked off for a moment, is over there with my

          4  buddy Ognibene.

          5                 I want to start off with, my career

          6  started in 1984 as a police officer, and the first

          7  case that came to mind during the time of my

          8  training was the Eleanor Bumpers case. In spite of

          9  the Eleanor Bumpers case, I actively recruited young

         10  men to come into the Police Department and I started

         11  with home first. First my youngest brother followed,

         12  who is now a sergeant, and three of my first

         13  cousins, who are, one of them is a sergeant and the

         14  other two are detectives. So, I come from what many

         15  people will call a law enforcement family, and I am

         16  truly concerned with not ensuring proper justice for

         17  law enforcement officers, because what I call for

         18  today, the bell may toll for one of my family

         19  members.

         20                 My desire is to ensure justice, not

         21  to get the outcome that I am looking for, but to

         22  ensure that whoever participate or commit any

         23  criminal act has an opportunity to go in front of

         24  the judicial system and seek some form of justice.

         25                 I want to shy away from the
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          2  emotionalism of the case but there is a lot of

          3  emotion that's involved and I don't think my opinion

          4  on Bruder, Wiese or Schwarz is important. I think

          5  it's more important that we isolate our attention on

          6  the facts.

          7                 I would like to move away from the

          8  job of Charles Hynes or the US Attorney. I think

          9  it's imperative that they make the proper decision.

         10                 I would like to examine what the New

         11  York City Police Department is capable of doing.

         12                 One, we need to deal with the facts

         13  of the case. Although we were not there, and I

         14  think, Councilman, you made a valid point, that

         15  those who were not there must examine the skills of

         16  those investigators who were there.

         17                 One thing we know for sure, three to

         18  four individuals, or I should start out with the

         19  first act, Abner Louima was tortured. He was not

         20  only sodomized. I think just to isolate it to one

         21  particular moment in the bathroom is unfair to the

         22  entire event. He was tortured.

         23                 Two, fact two: A group of individuals

         24  attempted to cover up the behavior of a criminal

         25  act. There was 250 hours of telephone calls between
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          2  Wiese, Bruder, Schwarz and possibly Volpe. They

          3  attempted to cover up a criminal act.

          4                 Fact three: They lied to

          5  investigators. Just based on those three facts, not

          6  dealing with who held Louima or who didn't, I don't

          7  want to go into that area, just based on those three

          8  facts, the Department procedures dictate that if you

          9  lie to a formal investigation, you are automatically

         10  terminated. You can be filed with Departmental

         11  charges, within ten days of a Departmental trial,

         12  you are allowed 30 days of suspension prior to

         13  having to be returned to duty. There is no reason

         14  for these officers to be returned to the New York

         15  City Police Department, not based on the overturning

         16  of the criminal charges, but based on the internal

         17  Department procedures that are already in place.

         18  That's what we need to look at first.

         19                 Second: We have a sergeant who was on

         20  the scene that day. That is why the concerns of many

         21  of the City Council people and Reverend Sharpton is

         22  valid. The sergeant who was on the scene when Volpe

         23  arrested Patrick Antione and assaulted him after he

         24  came out of the building from playing video games,

         25  not at the disco, but from playing video games, that
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          2  sergeant has yet to be brought up on Departmental

          3  charges. He was not charged with one Departmental

          4  charges, he's back in uniform, back supervising

          5  officers, without one departmental charges, although

          6  he was indicted by a federal grand jury.

          7                 Historically, after you beat any

          8  criminal charges, you must come before the

          9  Department internal investigatory apparatus to

         10  determine if you should continue to be a police

         11  officer. This sergeant circumvented that process

         12  without anyone clearly explaining why he was not

         13  brought up on any Departmental charges.

         14                 I think it's imperative that we set

         15  the right climate, not because we want to answer the

         16  calls for any form of lynchmark justice. I think

         17  that in this venue that we're talking here, we could

         18  come out with some very clear, specific actions,

         19  that would not just satisfy those that are upset

         20  over this case, but that will protect the countless

         21  number of white officers who visit me between 12 and

         22  8:00 in the morning who have lost confidence in the

         23  system.

         24                 Too many people want to give this an

         25  issue that is geographically located to one ethnic
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          2  group or one geographical area of the City, when, in

          3  fact, that's not the reality.

          4                 White officers from Bay Ridge and

          5  Bensonhurst and Borough Park and Williamsburg, they

          6  are concerned about their lack of faith in the

          7  process.

          8                 Special Prosecutor. Not only calling

          9  for a Special Prosecutor is important, but what the

         10  prosecutor does is important. There must be three

         11  elements of the Special Prosecutor that if it's not

         12  in place it's a waste of time.

         13                 Element number one: He must have

         14  evidence gathering power in any Police Department

         15  shootings or criminal actions with Police

         16  Departments. Why is that important? Take a look at

         17  the most recent trial, where the DWI officer, after

         18  he was accused of taking the life of young people.

         19  The evidence that was gathered at that scene were

         20  his cohorts, were his individuals in his precinct.

         21  They actually doled him. That's an awesome

         22  responsibility to give to a police officer to

         23  safeguard the evidence of your comrad. We shouldn't

         24  ask that of anyone. We shouldn't ask the City

         25  Councilman to safeguard the evidence of another City
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          2  Councilman. It's an awesome responsibility.

          3                 Take that out of the hand of the

          4  police officers, immediately after the Amadou Diallo

          5  shooting, street crime unit, other police officers,

          6  gather the information that would be used in the

          7  court room ruled on law. That is unfair for police

          8  officers to have to do.

          9                 Street crime -- I'm sorry, not street

         10  crime, but crime scenes are not individuals who are

         11  isolated or removed from the Police Department,

         12  these are other police officers. Those police

         13  officers are not only pressured with the humanistic

         14  desire of being with their friends, being with their

         15  comrads, that's too much of a responsibility to give

         16  a police officer to gather that data that would be

         17  used in a courtroom later after a shooting of that

         18  magnitude. And we can go down the list. Street crime

         19  shooters throughout the years, other police officers

         20  gathered information, shootings involving

         21  questionable shootings of police officers, other

         22  police officers gathered information, Eleanor

         23  Bumpers' shooting, other police officers gathered

         24  information. Any prosecutor that is not called in to

         25  immediately, one, safeguard the crime scene, two, to
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          2  be responsible of gathering information, three, to

          3  be able to report on the gathering and safeguarding

          4  of that information at any criminal proceeding is a

          5  waste of time.

          6                 What that does; (1) it protects any

          7  innocent person who may have been a victim of police

          8  misconduct; but (2) it protects any police officer

          9  who carried out his function correctly. Forensics

         10  will not lie. Forensics do not change. The proper

         11  safeguard in documenting of forensic evidence will

         12  assure a safe -- a fair prosecution or a fair trial

         13  to everybody.

         14                 (3) Twenty-four hour hot line number.

         15  There needs to be a 24-hour hot line number with

         16  whatever prosecutor that's put in place with the

         17  responsibility of having a emergency deployment

         18  team. The job of that team will be to immediately

         19  respond to those high level of corruption cases.

         20                 Too many officers, the number one

         21  complaint you receive from those officers of all

         22  ethnicities who are doing a reputable job as police

         23  officers, that they do not trust the internal system

         24  that is in place. That is the number one complaint.

         25                 A couple of weeks ago, 79 Precinct, a
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          2  Lieutenant is alleged to have walked into the

          3  precinct and assault a handcuffed prisoner. The

          4  number of calls I received that night from officers

          5  of all ethnicity, if I could base on the sound of

          6  their telephone call, that they were concerned about

          7  what happened, and my statement to them was call

          8  Internal Affairs, we don't trust them.

          9                 If we had a system in place where

         10  those officers can call someone outside the

         11  Department that could immediately respond to that

         12  scene and conduct the investigation, all thorough

         13  investigators will tell you, the first few moments

         14  after a particular incident are the most important

         15  moments. The current system that's in place, the

         16  rank and file do not trust that system. They do not

         17  report the allegations of corruption, and I'm

         18  talking about serious corruption, they're not being

         19  reported to the level that they should be. We do not

         20  have an outlet for those officers of all ethnicities

         21  and all geographical areas of the City who would

         22  like to participate in the process of weeding out

         23  corrupt officers, the internal process is not a fair

         24  process and they will all concur on that.

         25                 Lastly, a whistle-blower unit within
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          2  the Police Department. Right here in this chamber

          3  Yvette Walton testified. Immediately after

          4  testifying, a half an hour later she was terminated.

          5  She wasn't terminated for shooting someone 40 times,

          6  she wasn't terminated for sodomizing someone, she

          7  was terminated because they stated she was not in

          8  her home or her sick location at a reasonable time.

          9  That was the reason for her termination, after she

         10  testified.

         11                 There needs to be a unit in place

         12  that:

         13                 1) teaches officer how to report

         14  corruption.

         15                 2) to monitor the career of police

         16  officers after they report corruption.

         17                 And (3) put some form of system in

         18  place that we either reward or compensate or

         19  acknowledge or assure the safety of those officers.

         20                 Borgers (phonetic) up in the Bronx,

         21  after she testified, the Police Department stated,

         22  "we are afraid for her life."

         23                 Officers in this case, the Abner

         24  Louima case, after the testimony, many of those

         25  officers said they were afraid for their lives. What
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          2  kind of sick City are we living in that's turned

          3  upside down when other law enforcement officers are

          4  afraid of their comrads for coming forward? There's

          5  no system in place to protect them when they do come

          6  forward.

          7                 And I think we need to be clear on

          8  what I believe this City Council needs to do

          9  finally.

         10                 I think this City Council needs to

         11  conduct a thorough investigation to what went wrong

         12  in the 70th Precinct when Abner Louima was

         13  sodomized. That has yet to be done.

         14                 How could a man be sodomized, and a

         15  prisoner in a cell hear the screams, and no one in

         16  the precinct, which is a fact, came to Abner

         17  Loumia's aid? That is a fact. No one walked into

         18  that bathroom and stopped the sodomizing from going

         19  on. Policing is not flipping hamburgers in

         20  McDonald's when you have the opportunity to step

         21  back and say I'm not going to participate or stop a

         22  particular action. You are mandated by law to stop

         23  any criminal behavior.

         24                 We have yet to address what happened

         25  to the officers who were in the precinct.
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          2                 How did Abner Louima walk through the

          3  precinct with his private parts exposed and no one

          4  stopped that action from taking place?

          5                 How did the street crime officers who

          6  was in the cell area and saw Abner Louima in the

          7  condition that he was in? What has happened to these

          8  individuals?

          9                 Every individual inside that precinct

         10  must be accounted for. This body would be neglecting

         11  its responsibility if you are satisfied with just

         12  Justin Volpe going to prison, or losing his job, for

         13  one of the most heinous acts that have taken place

         14  in law enforcement history. You have an obligation

         15  and a responsibility to hear the voices of the

         16  citizens who believe and listen to you, and stated

         17  instead of living out the Los Angeles riots. We're

         18  going to believe in the system. Part of the system

         19  is this hearing. Part of the system are the press

         20  conferences that allow people to voice in a peaceful

         21  manner their outrage. Part of the system is the

         22  individuals that allow themselves to be locked up.

         23  This is part of the system. So, for people to

         24  critique and say we're stepping outside the system,

         25  that is ridiculous. This is part of the American
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          2  system, utilizing every arm of government and every

          3  legal and peaceful means to address the issues at

          4  hand.

          5                 We are failing to take advantage of

          6  an opportunity that I believe is in front of us, and

          7  that is to utilize the current administration to put

          8  in place policies and procedures that will assist

          9  not only those officers who believe that the system

         10  has failed, but the countless number of officers

         11  that would like to participate in addressing the

         12  issues that we're looking at with police misconduct

         13  and police abuse.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         16  Lieutenant Adams.

         17                 That was another angle at which we

         18  certainly really need to take a look at this total

         19  picture. And your recommendations are quite timely.

         20  I'd encourage my colleagues, and, Hiram, I believe

         21  you're on the Public Safety Committee as well, I

         22  will call on you at this time, I know you have a

         23  comment. But perhaps this is something that the

         24  Public Safety Committee could certainly follow up

         25  on.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 Welcome to these Chambers, Lieutenant

          5  Adams.

          6                 LIEUTENANT ADAMS: Thank you, Hiram.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: It's a

          8  pleasure to see you here.

          9                 LIEUTENANT ADAMS: Always.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And

         11  clearly, your testimony before this Committee is

         12  enlightening. More so for my colleagues, I believe,

         13  than for myself, because I truly understand where

         14  we're speaking of.

         15                 And Madam Chair, let me just state

         16  that I'm a firm believer that there needs to be a

         17  special prosecutor in place, and I will be lobbying

         18  you, my Committee members, and the members of the

         19  Public Safety Committee, to formalize the game plan

         20  to ensure that that happens. And Lieutenant Adams

         21  was quite brilliant in his testimony today,

         22  specifically pointing out incidents, patterns and

         23  practices and systemic issues. He talked about the

         24  Anthony Baez case, where Mr. Baez was choked to

         25  death after a football hits a patrol car, and when a
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          2  young Latino police officer spoke out, her life was

          3  in jeopardy, her name was Daisy Boria.

          4                 Then we spoke about the issue with

          5  Louima, and I have been observing the interaction

          6  between my colleagues and the people testifying here

          7  today before us, and when we look at the Louima case

          8  and all that went wrong, and there was so much that

          9  went wrong, it wasn't just four police officers who

         10  did a dastardly deed and a heinous act, it was what

         11  was in place in the system, what was the environment

         12  that these police officers actually thought that

         13  they can commit this act and get away with it, that

         14  environment, we have to ensure that that environment

         15  never continues, and no police officer would ever

         16  think of doing such an act and expect to get away

         17  with it.

         18                 And to that end, I would like to say,

         19  there were some officers and the sergeant that

         20  Lieutenant Adams mentioned was one of them, but

         21  there was another officer who five days later came

         22  forward, five days later. He was later promoted to

         23  detective and put into the Internal Affairs Bureau.

         24  He suddenly five days later got an awakenness of

         25  conscience and decided to talk, when the federal
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          2  prosecutors were coming through the door.

          3                 But, yet, he's still a police officer

          4  today, he still serves his Department. These issues

          5  are all the issues that we want to bring forward.

          6  It's not just about a mistrial, it's not just about

          7  someone's conviction being overturned on a

          8  technicality. It's not even about Charles Schwarz or

          9  Bruder, or Schwarz, it's about a pattern and

         10  practice in an environment that for many years has

         11  impacted on communities of color, and that is the

         12  issue that I want this Committee to understand, and

         13  that is the issue that this City Council must

         14  understand. And, yes, Lieutenant Adams, we will take

         15  on the leadership to ensure that those things are

         16  not allowed to fester.

         17                 So, I want to thank you for your

         18  testimony today, and state to you that I am

         19  committed, along with some of my colleagues, to

         20  ensure that we don't allow ever again an environment

         21  in this Department to continue that would allow for

         22  that.

         23                 Recently we had an incident in the

         24  City of New York, Officer Gray. What was the

         25  environment where police officers and supervisors
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          2  were drinking in parking lots. What was the

          3  environment when all the allegations of cover-up

          4  that now the Police Commissioner is investigating

          5  saying that there clearly were some issues, that

          6  there was clearly some conspiracy involved? That's

          7  the Police Commissioner today. How much has changed

          8  today from three years ago, from ten years ago?

          9                 We mentioned a case about 1978, we're

         10  in the Year 2002, stuff still happens today right

         11  here in our City, and you know that and we know

         12  that, too.

         13                 So, Lieutenant Adams, I want to thank

         14  you, again, for bringing these issues to light and I

         15  look forward to working with you on these issues,

         16  and if you may be able to shed some light based on

         17  your own knowledge, just as a comparative with the

         18  issue of Officer Gray, and how it relates to what

         19  we're speaking of today?

         20                 LIEUTENANT ADAMS: Well, again, I want

         21  us to be careful of not calling for symbolic

         22  gestures. I think the City Council has a desire to

         23  effect change, and with that desire, I believe if we

         24  utilize the professionals in all these agencies and

         25  tap into the wealth of knowledge from those
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          2  professionals, your desire for change could be

          3  marriage with our knowledge of how to effect

          4  positive change and we could have resolutions that

          5  not only protect Abner Louima's, but it protects the

          6  countless numbers of officers who were uprooted and

          7  their lives were changed in that 70 Precinct. And

          8  the destruction of the relationship of that Precinct

          9  and the community at large, you know, there are so

         10  many victims here. The only culprits who are guilty

         11  is Volpe and his cohorts who were on duty and in the

         12  precinct that day, and I don't think we should

         13  continue to separate whoever heard a man's voice

         14  yelling out for help that day and was in that

         15  precinct is just as guilty, as if they sodomized,

         16  Volpe also, as a law enforcement officer.

         17                 So, the comparison I'm trying to show

         18  here, that immediately after that family was killed

         19  on Third Avenue, if we had a Special Prosecutor to

         20  respond to that scene, gather the evidence, test the

         21  Officer Gray for his level of alcohol in his blood,

         22  safeguard the evidence, then the Prosecutor won't

         23  have to come to court and wonder what was wrong with

         24  the evidence.

         25                 This is the mechanism that's missing.
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          2  A simple mechanism of allowing an external body to

          3  safeguard forensic evidence. Forensic never changes.

          4  That's a discussion that no one wants to deal with.

          5  The forensic evidence that comes from any type of

          6  criminal or crime scene will never change, it will

          7  give you a clear story of what took place. The

          8  Department at a minimum could give that up when it

          9  comes down to police high corruption issues.

         10                 If the Department is against having

         11  external people conducting investigations, if that

         12  is their position, then that's their position. But

         13  there should be no reason they should be against

         14  allowing Police Department corruption cases or

         15  shootings to allow an external body to gather the

         16  evidence. Because once you have the evidence, it

         17  allows the officers involved to use that evidence at

         18  their trial and allows the people of the State of

         19  New York to use that evidence at their trial.

         20                 And I've seen far too often when we

         21  look at the Clifford Glovers, the Dorismunds, the

         22  Louimas, the Diallos and all those cases where you

         23  look at the evidence and the question of evidence

         24  and the handing down of evidence and how the

         25  evidence was gathered, were the lights on, something
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          2  as simple as were the lights on when Diallo was

          3  there? We don't know for sure. How many bullets were

          4  shot? Why were officers in Amadou Diallo's house

          5  after the shooting, and the Louima issue, was the

          6  bathroom safeguarded, what happened to the stick?

          7  Where was everybody assigned at the precinct, what

          8  type of drawing immediately after the crime? These

          9  questions are so important when you begin to rehash

         10  the case as, Council Member, I believe you pointed

         11  out.

         12                 If we're not there, there's only one

         13  way to retell that story, and that's forensics.

         14  That's the only way we can retell that story.

         15  Because, of course, we can't prosecute crimes and

         16  state if we were there a homicide didn't take place.

         17  That is not the way the system, judicial system

         18  operates. We do want to have the proper picture so

         19  we can find out exactly what took place there. My

         20  goal and my concern, despite what many people want

         21  to believe, my goal is to ensure that if my baby

         22  brother who I love very much, is involved in a

         23  questionable police action, that he will have a fair

         24  trial based on the evidence.

         25                 That is my goal, and the only way we
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          2  can do that is to put in place the correct apparatus

          3  that assure justice is served. Not the circumvention

          4  of justice, not quick lynch mark justice, which we

          5  often find ourselves a victim of, but justice is

          6  served. And that's what I hope this Council, and I

          7  encourage, that this Council is on the direction of

          8  doing, of ensuring we put in place those procedures

          9  that will assure justice is served and I believe

         10  this administration, particularly the new Police

         11  Commissioner, may be open to hearing some of these

         12  suggestions, that we protect people who come

         13  forward, that we gather the evidence correctly and

         14  that we assure justice is served.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         16  Charles Barron.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well,

         18  Lieutenant Adams, I, too, want to lend a voice of

         19  commendation to you and the courage. It's easy for

         20  us to take this issue on because no matter what this

         21  Council does, I'll probably be re-elected because my

         22  community is very fond of what we're doing. But for

         23  you to come forth and say the things that you're

         24  saying within the Police Department, and knowing the

         25  consequences, and there have been consequences for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            104

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  you I know in the past, they've had people spying on

          3  you and investigating you and harassing you, so I

          4  just want to thank you so much for taking this

          5  hearing where it ought to go, and that is beyond

          6  symbolism. But getting to the real substance of what

          7  this City Council can do and recommend internally

          8  within the Police Department, as well as fighting

          9  for the Special Prosecutor and some of the other

         10  things that we have to, as a legislative body, if we

         11  could be half as courageous as you and take on the

         12  City and the Administration around this question as

         13  you have the Police Department, I think we all will

         14  be better off, our families will be more protected.

         15  So, I just wanted to put that on the record to thank

         16  you for all your years of commitment and courage.

         17                 LIEUTENANT ADAMS: Thank you. Again, I

         18  would like to close with stating that I believe this

         19  is an excellent opportunity, and I think the mere

         20  fact that the heated discussion between Council

         21  people, is a clear indication of how heated it is in

         22  the community. I believe both groups concern is to

         23  represent their constituency. I don't believe there

         24  is any personal concerns, and I think that our

         25  constituencies, no matter if it's in Bay Ridge, or
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          2  if it's in Brownsville, both of them are seeking

          3  justice, and I think in order to protect both

          4  groups, we must ensure the integrity of the process,

          5  and that is my call to the Council, is to put in

          6  place for the first time the apparatus that will

          7  ensure the integrity of the process so when we walk

          8  away from the criminal justice system, all of us can

          9  point to one fact, that the process was safeguarded,

         10  it had a high level of integrity, and that an

         11  innocent person either walked free or a guilty

         12  person was incarcerated, that is the cry that should

         13  come from all New Yorkers, particularly those of us

         14  that are in City government.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         17  Lieutenant Adams.

         18                 I'm going to call two, we're going to

         19  have two panels coming up. I'd like to call, Ms.

         20  Dina Paul Parks of the National Coalition for

         21  Haitian Rights, and Dahood Andre of the Haitian

         22  Coalition for Justice, and let me just point out

         23  that many of the incidents that took place within my

         24  district also happen to hit one group within our

         25  community extremely hard, and that is the
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          2  Haitian-American community. We had just untold

          3  numbers of police brutality, police incidents,

          4  police killings of Haitian-Americans in the City of

          5  New York, and, so, I think it is quite appropriate

          6  that we have voices from the Haitian-American legal

          7  community to speak to the criminal justice system

          8  and what our observations have been to this point,

          9  and I thank you both so much for taking the time

         10  out, it's very critical and vital that our City hear

         11  from you your findings.

         12                 MS. PARKS: Thank you so much for the

         13  opportunity. Good afternoon, Chairperson Clarke, and

         14  members of the Committee, of the Council. My name is

         15  Dina Paul Parks and I'm the Executive Director of

         16  the National Coalition for Haitian Rights. I'm here

         17  to address you today on a subject of vital concern

         18  to the more than 300,000 people of Haitian descent

         19  who live in New York City, Police Community

         20  Relations.

         21                 None of us should have to be reminded

         22  of the horrific torture of Abner Louima in a

         23  Brooklyn precinct bathroom on the night of August

         24  9th, 1997, or the tragic shooting death of Patrick

         25  Dorismund on March 16th, 2000, or the senseless
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          2  killing of Georgie Louie Jen (phonetic) on January

          3  16th of this year. None of us should have to be

          4  reminded of any of these acts of brutality suffered

          5  by the Haitian community by members of the NYPD.

          6                 Alas, however, since February 28th,

          7  when the United States Court of Appeals for the 2nd

          8  Circuit overturned the verdicts of Charles Schwarz

          9  Thomas Wiese and Thomas Bruder, it seems that many

         10  have forgotten. When there are those who would

         11  seriously entertain the reinstatement of these

         12  officers in the police force, it is clear that too

         13  many have forgotten. But we, the Haitian community,

         14  we remember.

         15                 We are pleased that one retrial, that

         16  of Charles Schwarz is underway, and that other

         17  charges may soon be brought to Officers Wiese and

         18  Bruder. Beyond the criminal charges and legal

         19  rengaling, however, I want to be clear, the Haitian

         20  community feels very strongly that these officers

         21  should never be allowed to once again masquerade as

         22  those who are sworn to protect and to serve.

         23                 These officers brought shame to

         24  themselves, the Department and the City. To give

         25  them a badge and a gun would not only be an affront
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          2  to our community, it would be the epitome of

          3  irresponsibility on the part of public officials.

          4                 Let me reassure here that NCHR and

          5  the many organizations with which it works are not

          6  anti-police. For the last two years we have been

          7  running a project aimed at improving relations

          8  between the police and the community. We have held

          9  several town meetings on police community relations,

         10  the most recent of which was attended by Police

         11  Commissioner Raymond Kelly.

         12                 We meet regularly with police

         13  precincts and officials and have set up meetings

         14  between the police and merchants in Flatbush and

         15  other areas with large concentrations of Haitians.

         16                 We conduct workshops for Haitian

         17  students at various high schools, teaching them

         18  about their rights and how to behave in an encounter

         19  with the police.

         20                 Meetings and trainings will only take

         21  you so far, however. Additional legal safeguards are

         22  necessary in order to protect our community and

         23  ensure accountability.

         24                 For this reason I support the

         25  creation of a special prosecutor to investigate

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            109

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  police misconduct. Unlike other such mechanisms

          3  already in place, however, this office must have the

          4  requisite resources and authority to conduct

          5  credible investigations and vigorously pursue cases

          6  with the utmost independence and professionalism.

          7  Anything less cannot earn it the respect that it

          8  needs from both the community and the Police

          9  Department and is doomed to fail.

         10                 Each of these issues, retrials,

         11  reinstatement, creation of a special prosecutor, is

         12  addressed in proposed Resolution 91-A.

         13                 I urge the Council to immediately

         14  adopt this resolution, which will take all of us one

         15  step closer to ensuring that what too many of us has

         16  resembled a pattern of the miscarriage of justice

         17  will not amount to wholesale impunity for those

         18  officers who would abuse their authority.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you.

         20                 Would you state your name and your

         21  organization? Thank you.

         22                 MR. ANDRE: My name is Dahood Andre

         23  from the Haitian Coalition for Justice.

         24                 The Haitian Coalition for Justice

         25  joins the chorus of voices here today to demand the
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          2  retrial of Charles Schwarz. We wonder, though,

          3  whether we can with a straight face demand that

          4  Internal Affairs of the NYPD continue to do these

          5  investigations, when we recalled the favor,

          6  Policeman just testified in open court that he did

          7  for drunk killer cop Joseph Gray.

          8                 We wonder again whether we can with a

          9  straight face demand that Charles Hynes investigate

         10  this case, when we know the record of the Brooklyn

         11  District Attorney's Office under his tenure.

         12                 Today, May 7th, 2002, his office is

         13  still prosecuting one of the mourners arrested at

         14  Patrick Dorismund's funeral, while this office

         15  routinely allows killer cops to walk away

         16  scott-free, without even calling together a grand

         17  jury. In half-heartedly asking for this

         18  reprosecution, we must remind everyone, that every

         19  cop, just like the last person who testified said,

         20  every cop in the 70th Precinct on that night, August

         21  9th, 1997, they heard Abner Louima scream, all of

         22  them are guilty of being silent in the face of this

         23  inhuman crime.

         24                 Many of them were, in addition to

         25  this, direct accomplices to the cover-up which
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          2  ensued. The funny thing is, all of them, they're

          3  still patrolling our streets, every day they're

          4  still sending our young children to jail, and every

          5  night they sleep soundly without worrying because

          6  they own the night and they own the day also.

          7                 As to the demand that Thomas Wiese

          8  and Bruder not be rehired as cops, we believe they

          9  fit very well in the New York Police Department.

         10  This is the Department which offers comfort to the

         11  killers of Anthony Rosario and Hilton Vega and

         12  Ebaocas Keyo, Jr. (phonetic), Aswan Watson, Patrick

         13  Bailey, Didion Bush, Amadou Diallo, Malcolm

         14  Ferguson, and his mom is here, Nicholas Hayward, his

         15  dad is here, Patrick Dorismund, Andre Fields, Georgi

         16  Reggin (phonetic) and our staff, but you know how

         17  many more there are.

         18                 With the record of all five New York

         19  City District Attorneys, and the relationship of the

         20  Assistant DAs to the police, it is evident that they

         21  cannot be called upon to investigate or prosecute

         22  the police. The call is definitely for an

         23  independent prosecutor in all such cases, but we

         24  think of Pataki, Bush and Ashcroft, with the NYPD

         25  caps, and smiling post-9/11 photo ops, and we wonder
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          2  if this is not just another half-hearted demand,

          3  which even if fulfilled would never address law

          4  enforcement abuse and the criminalization of people

          5  of color and poor people in general.

          6                 The responsibility of the City

          7  Council, or the serious folks, I think there are

          8  only two left here, though, who with any serious

          9  concern about this issue is to continue to shine a

         10  beam of light on this issue, continue to bring the

         11  parents and people fighting against police abuse to

         12  these chambers and when the others get tired of

         13  hearing it, they will leave, know these people, know

         14  their stories and know the police who kill our

         15  children and who they are. Announce the duplicity of

         16  the DAs, the criminal justice system and the

         17  destruction of our communities. Take this issue and

         18  the overall responsibility to the people you

         19  publicly serve, put you in office seriously. The

         20  responsibility of the residents of New York City we

         21  believe is to not pretend that you don't see what is

         22  happening around you. Don't be afraid to stand up

         23  for what is right, fight for your right, fight for

         24  your life, your children's lives, take nothing for

         25  granted from the elected officials who many times
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          2  only pretend to represent you. Keep the pressure on.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

          5  you both, too, for taking the time from your busy

          6  schedules. I know that you could be doing a number

          7  of things, but I know how important this issue is to

          8  both of you, the organizations you're here to

          9  represent and the community at large that has

         10  depended very much on your voices, and I want to

         11  thank you for taking the time today, because it is

         12  certainly critical that, as you say, we keep the

         13  pressure on, and that we shine a public light on

         14  what has been an atrocious situation within our

         15  community. And certainly, as we shine that light, we

         16  gather more momentum to the day when we can see this

         17  end. And I want to thank you both, again, for that.

         18                 Council Member Barron.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I, too, want

         20  to lend my voice of thanks. And to the Haitian

         21  community, a community that knows how to come out

         22  and respond to the tune of 50,000, and 30,000 have

         23  been at demonstrations with thousands of us who

         24  marched across the bridge in support of Abner

         25  Louima, and I was at the Dorismund funeral when they
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          2  had just a load of police presence to agitate

          3  something.

          4                 So, I just want to thank you for the

          5  eloquence, for the piercing power of your testimony,

          6  and to say that our commitment is to use this

          7  legislative body to keep a light on it and then have

          8  an outside strategy. Because certainly this is not

          9  the panacea, this is not going to be the answer, but

         10  hopefully it will be a catalytic approach to really

         11  launching a movement here that we could sustain with

         12  an inside and outside strategy to let know citizen

         13  in this City be at rest until we get justice to all

         14  the families, and to the families that are here we

         15  say God speed and we wish you the best and God bless

         16  you for your courage and sustaining you throughout

         17  your time of difficulty. Because it's very, very

         18  difficult, and it just never ceases to amaze me that

         19  we require meager responses to these atrocities and

         20  yet we get resistance sometimes even to our

         21  resolution.

         22                 So I thank you for your testimony and

         23  for your courage.

         24                 MS. PARKS: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I have Juanita
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          2  Young, Nicholas Hayward, and Steven Yip. Stephen Yip

          3  of the October 22nd Coalition to Stop Police

          4  Brutality and Juanita Young, Nicholas Hayward,

          5  Families Seeking Justice from Police Killings.

          6                 If there's anyone else in the

          7  audience who wanted to testify today, you still have

          8  an opportunity to fill out a slip. If not, we will

          9  be wrapping up this hearing after the testimony of

         10  these three individuals.

         11                 Please, since we're using a panel,

         12  make sure you state your name and the organization

         13  you represent before you begin your testimony.

         14                 MR. YIP: Thank you, Madam

         15  Chairperson.

         16                 My name is Steven Yip. And for those

         17  who would like to know how I spell my last name,

         18  it's spelled Y-I-P.

         19                 I do represent the October 22nd

         20  Coalition to Stop Police Brutality and the

         21  Criminalization of a Generation.

         22                 As introduction to this organization,

         23  some of you may recall back in 1998, Mayor Giuliani,

         24  the former Mayor Giuliani, attempted to stop a

         25  mobilization on October 22, 1998, a major
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          2  demonstration against police brutality, in which he

          3  went to court for.

          4                 That particular organization behind

          5  that was our organization, the October 22nd

          6  Coalition. So, we represent one of the many forces

          7  out there in the streets who are putting the

          8  spotlight on the question of police brutality, which

          9  we have seen to be not only a crisis in New York

         10  City but a national epidemic, and one of the tools

         11  that we have developed to show that it is a national

         12  epidemic is this particular document.

         13                 This particular document is called

         14  "Stolen Lives, Killed By Law Enforcement," and this

         15  is a joint project of the October 22nd Coalition,

         16  the National Lawyers Guild, and the Anthony Baez

         17  Foundation.

         18                 And this particular book here

         19  documents over 2,000 names and stories of people

         20  killed by law enforcement officials in the 1990s

         21  alone, and that should represent only, just touching

         22  the tip of the iceberg, and this, again, is a

         23  particularly grassroots effort without any funding

         24  from any particular public sources.

         25                 I do have a statement which I'd like
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          2  to present to the Committee, and I'll give this to

          3  the Sergeant-At-Arms later.

          4                 What I'm going to do is I am going to

          5  defer to the individuals to my flans, Mr. Nicholas

          6  Heyward, Sr., to my left, and Ms. Juanita Young, on

          7  my right. Both of them are participants in the

          8  October 22nd Coalition To Stop Police Brutality, but

          9  also in their own right both of them are very well

         10  known and outspoken activists and critics of police

         11  practices, as they have experienced the soul

         12  wrenching experience of having loved ones taken away

         13  by them by law enforcement officials.

         14                 I would like to bring to the

         15  attention of Madam Chairperson and Councilperson

         16  Charles Barron, that police brutality did not

         17  disappear with September 11th, and I think that's my

         18  main issue here, which I will provide you with our

         19  particular statement on the Louima reversal, if I

         20  can put it that way. But I would like to at least

         21  before I close and turn it over to Nicholas and to

         22  Juanita, that the incident of September 11th has

         23  given the powers that be, if you will, and also

         24  certain policy makers the ability to actually try to

         25  gloss over the question of police brutality and
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          2  police abuse and police misconduct, and I think the

          3  thing is that since that time we have seen many,

          4  many instances in which hard-fought verdicts, if you

          5  will, won by people taken in the streets, have been

          6  reversed, not just in New York City, and I cite the

          7  Louima verdict as one of them, but other cases

          8  throughout the country, and one of them in

          9  particular we see that police powers have been

         10  emboldened (phonetic) and heightened since September

         11  11th, and I submit to you and I submit to the

         12  audience and I submit to the press, that we are

         13  moving towards very quickly, and I would have not

         14  stated this prior to 9/11, because I am not an

         15  alarmist. Right now, after 9/11, it's time to sound

         16  the alarm.

         17                 So, I'd like to turn this over to

         18  Nicholas Heyward and to Juanita Young.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you.

         21                 MR. HEYWARD: Good afternoon, members

         22  of the Council. I wanted to first say that I'm

         23  honored to be here before the Council on this very,

         24  very serious issue on police brutality.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you just
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          2  state your name for me.

          3                 MR. HEYWARD: My name is Nicholas

          4  Heyward, Sr. My son was Nicholas, Jr. He was a

          5  13-year-old honor student. He was shot and killed in

          6  1994 playing with a toy gun in the Boram Hill

          7  (phonetic) section of Brooklyn.

          8                 The case never went to trial. In

          9  fact, the case was, it was just closed, and the

         10  reason it was closed because Brooklyn District

         11  Attorney Charles Hynes felt that the officer was

         12  fearing for his life when he shot my son.

         13                 Regardless of all of the evidence

         14  that I had brought to District Attorney Charles

         15  Hynes in showing him clearly that this officer shot

         16  my son after he had dropped his toy gun and told

         17  this officer"we're only playing. We're only

         18  playing," and he still shot my son.

         19                 That is also why I am for a special

         20  prosecution, a prosecutor to prosecute police

         21  officers in New York City and around the country

         22  because police brutality is an epidemic that's not

         23  only here in New York City but it's going on around

         24  this country.

         25                 I have seen many, many incidents
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          2  where the prosecutors have not even, don't even want

          3  to hear the cases. They always come up with a reason

          4  to justify each and every killing of police

          5  brutality in New York City. Only a few may make it

          6  to trial, and then justice isn't served after the

          7  office is found guilty. Because in many incidents,

          8  for the Nathanial Gaines case, this is the sailor

          9  who was killed in the Bronx, the officer who killed

         10  him got one to three years in prison.

         11                 There's another case in the Bronx

         12  also, the gentleman, the officer only got probation

         13  in that case. So, even if the cases are brought to

         14  trial, still no justice is being served because

         15  they're still getting away with it.

         16                 Even in this recent case in Brooklyn

         17  where the drunk cop that mowed down this family,

         18  this officer right now is only facing five to ten

         19  years -- five to 15 years max. Four lives have been

         20  lost.

         21                 I have been rallying and lobbying

         22  against police violence since my son was killed, and

         23  the only thing that we are asking for is equal

         24  justice under the law. That's it. We are not asking

         25  for anything outrageous, or anything insane, and
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          2  it's something that I still today don't understand,

          3  why are we fighting for something that our ancestors

          4  have already died for? We are still fighting for

          5  justice and our ancestors already fought and died

          6  for this that we are out here rallying and fighting

          7  for.

          8                 I have been placed under harassment

          9  for my rallying and protesting and being outspoken

         10  on police brutality and police issues.

         11                 I had been arrested in 2000 just

         12  before the morning of the October 22nd National Day

         13  of Protest, which is a protest against police

         14  brutality that goes on in over 55 cities across this

         15  country. And the reason that they came banging on my

         16  door 6:00 a.m. in the morning is because they said

         17  they had a warrant for my arrest, which was an

         18  outstanding warrant for walking my dog off a chain,

         19  one that I didn't know where it came from, but I was

         20  placed under arrest that morning.

         21                 And I just want to say that I applaud

         22  the Council who is presenting this here today. You

         23  know, all of the issues involving police brutality,

         24  in situation with Abner Louima -- I mean, if people

         25  who are listening and paying, and are paying, or
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          2  rather, if they are not paying attention, then I

          3  guess that's why they're not outraged. Because if

          4  you're paying attention to all the issues that's

          5  going on around the Abner Louima case, in all of the

          6  cases of police brutality, you should be outraged.

          7  There's no justice being done in any of these cases.

          8                 The police officers are actually

          9  still walking the streets. I'm on everyday for my

         10  son. I continue to rally. I've been at just about

         11  every rally that there is fighting police brutality.

         12  I mean, it's something that I just can't stop doing.

         13  I just can't.

         14                 I mean, I would like to have justice

         15  for my son. I would like for this officer to be

         16  brought up on charges with criminal neglect

         17  homicide, which is what he should have been arrested

         18  for. Criminal neglect homicide. He neglected a whole

         19  lot of things in shooting my son.

         20                 Even when the evidence showed clearly

         21  that -- when I say the evidence, there have been

         22  people from the community who informed the District

         23  Attorney also, that this officer, whenever he

         24  patrolled the buildings of the Gowanus Houses that

         25  he removed his gun when he got into the buildings
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          2  and patrolled his buildings with his gun out.

          3                 Although there have never been a

          4  complaint filed against the officer, made the

          5  officer's record clean.

          6                 But still today, like I say, I

          7  applaud the Council for all of these issues of

          8  police brutality. Charles Barron, you know, I heard

          9  about you very, very much. You, also, Mrs. Clarke.

         10  And I applaud all of the issues that you address,

         11  including reparations. I have been at the rally

         12  there also. And at Reverend Daughtry's church. I'm

         13  also a member of Families of Victims Against

         14  Violence. And I'd just like to say that the officers

         15  who actually tortured Abner Louima do need to go --

         16  does need to have a retrial in that case.

         17                 I felt a lot of -- I felt relieved

         18  when these officers were convicted, because I said,

         19  finally, we're getting some justice in our struggle

         20  against police brutality. When every officer, even

         21  in the case, the Herrara case, the Gray case, he was

         22  convicted, I felt a little relief then also. But

         23  it's still an issue of what is the sentencing going

         24  to be. Justice is served where there should be equal

         25  justice under the law. If I was in Officer Gray's
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          2  shoes, what kind of sentence do you think I would

          3  get? Justice is served when there is equal justice

          4  under the law. Whatever applies to me should apply

          5  to every individual on this planet.

          6                 I thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you, sir.

          8                 MS. YOUNG: Hello. My name is Juanita

          9  Young. I'm the mother of Malcolm Ferguson.

         10                 My son was killed March 1st of 2000

         11  by Street Crime's undercover cop Louis Rivera.

         12  According to the story, they tried to say that my

         13  son was running from the officer and the gun went

         14  off. During my investigation and whatever, the story

         15  came out, they shot my son dead in the temple of his

         16  head. The Medical Examiner ruled he was shot at

         17  close blank range.

         18                 Rivera is claiming that, after he had

         19  a change of story, that him and my son was fighting

         20  and the gun went off. DA Johnson decided that being

         21  that there's no witnesses to what happened, he's not

         22  saying Rivera was wrong, but due to lack of evidence

         23  Rivera walks.

         24                 I felt with the Medical Examiner's

         25  report and what was going on during the
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          2  investigation, Rivera should have been put on trial.

          3                 DA Johnson decided, being that he's

          4  the DA there's no reason to take it to the grand

          5  jury, because the grand jury listens to what the DA

          6  says. That's where it comes in how the DA depends on

          7  the police for their cases.

          8                 When they was investigating my son's

          9  case, the DA and the Inspector was laughing in my

         10  face.

         11                 I feel that if we had a Special

         12  Prosecutor, that case would have been dealt with

         13  differently.

         14                 In terms of the Louima case, here

         15  this man is alive and able to tell what happened to

         16  him. Why do we have to sit back and listen to what B

         17  say, meaning the cops, when A is right here to tell

         18  you the evidence is right in your face.

         19                 The fact that you all decided to take

         20  this on is maybe what we need to get some kind of

         21  justice going and fight this fight of police

         22  brutality, because through these years, and from

         23  when we're coming out and going to these rallies and

         24  listening to a lot of cases, people are just turning

         25  a deaf ear, and to come here and sit here and listen
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          2  and really get into what's really going on, to me

          3  gives me a great feeling to know somebody's

          4  listening. And I ask that you all please continue

          5  and not let the other side turn you away and fight

          6  and get Schwarz and whoever else is involved with

          7  Louima to pay for what they did. Stop letting these

          8  cops feel they're above the law.

          9                 I mean, they went from being hired

         10  killers or executioners to medical doctors where you

         11  make a diagnosis and say the man is high on drugs

         12  and they suffocate him. Come on, there's something

         13  wrong.

         14                 And like I said, I'm happy that

         15  you're all taking on the fight that we need, some

         16  real strength, you know, behind us, to help us fight

         17  this fight on police brutality.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         20  you both for putting the face of the families before

         21  us today. When we're looking at issues of justice,

         22  it's very easy for those of us who have not

         23  personally been affected to the extent that you

         24  have, to want to take the baton and run with it, but

         25  it's really important that we be grounded in the
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          2  experiences of families who know first-hand what it

          3  is to have justice denied.

          4                 This hearing was a very critical

          5  hearing, and this resolution was brought to the Fire

          6  and Criminal Justice Services Committee by Charles

          7  Barron because we thought it was important, given

          8  what we've experienced in the 40th Council District,

          9  in Charles Barron's district, in districts

         10  throughout the City of New York, that this issue be

         11  given light.

         12                 And you'll hear me talk about light

         13  quite often, because often times, again, you know,

         14  they're issues that are given a spark, and that

         15  spark can be incendiary, in other words, it just

         16  gets people inflamed. But when you shine a light on

         17  something, it gives people moments to pause and to

         18  really rationally think through things, and also do

         19  some soul searching, because for those who would

         20  really sort of frown upon us bringing the issue to

         21  light, certainly there must be some internal

         22  concerns of issues and justice that they must deal

         23  with themselves.

         24                 We have a responsibility to the City

         25  of New York to make sure that all of its citizens
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          2  are given the light. And, so, that this resolution

          3  today, as we will not be voting on it today, but it

          4  will be coming to the floor, this resolution today

          5  is just one step, I think, as my colleague has

          6  stated, and he will have an opportunity to close,

          7  one step in what we hope will be a continued march

          8  to true justice in the City of New York, and

          9  certainly if New York can march towards justice then

         10  we can see New Jersey march towards justice, we can

         11  see Connecticut march towards justice, we can see

         12  Massachusetts, Los Angeles, we can see the rest of

         13  our nation march to justice because it's certainly

         14  time. We're in the 21st century, and this that we've

         15  experienced has a historical context that a lot of

         16  folks negate, and there are different eyes looking

         17  at this issue from different lenses, and, so, we

         18  brought a new lens to the table today, and I want to

         19  thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I want to

         21  thank the Chair, Yvette Clarke, for your courage and

         22  for your professional way that you conducted this

         23  hearing, even though it got heated. I think this was

         24  a historic hearing and I just want to leave it with

         25  your words, because I think what you said was most
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          2  appropriate, and just say to the families that we

          3  will continue to pursue justice. I remember both the

          4  cases as though they happened yesterday, and your

          5  pain is our pain. Because when your sons are lost, I

          6  lost a son, and I know that it could easily be me

          7  next time. It doesn't matter when you're a City

          8  Council or whether you're just a brother and a

          9  sister in the hood trying to make it, they could

         10  care less. So, we will continue to struggle for you

         11  until we get justice as a people.

         12                 And Council Member Clarke, thank you

         13  so much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you.

         15                 This hearing is adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 1:10 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 7th day of May 2002.

         20
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                                   ---------------------
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          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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